
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item No. AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 4 - 7

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 14th 
September 2017. 

6.  FOOD AND FEED SERVICE PLAN 2017-18 8 - 36

To present the annual review of Council’s Food and Feed Service 
Plan. 

7.  THE NEED FOR EXTRA YEAR 7 SCHOOL PLACES 2017- 2027 37 - 46

To present information on school Place Planning from 2017 to 2027 for 

Meeting of:  Cabinet
Date: Tuesday, 24th October, 2017
Time: 6.15 pm
Venue: Rochdale Town Hall, The Esplanade, 

Rochdale, OL16 1AB

Public Document Pack



secondary school places. 

8.  THE NEED FOR EXTRA PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES 2017- 2020 47 - 63

To set out proposals to address the need for extra Reception and Year 
1-6 places up to September 2020. 

9.  PROPOSED LOCAL POSITIVE RECRUITMENT CRITERIA POLICY 64 - 73

To provide details of the Council`s proposed Local Positive 
Recruitment Policy, which is an amendment to the Council`s 
Recruitment and Selection Policy, for consideration and approval. 

10.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

11.  MULTI FUNCTIONAL DEVICE (MFD) TENDER 74 - 77

To present options relating to the Multi-Functional Device (MFD) 
tender process. 

12.  COMMUNITY CENTRES FUNDING PROJECT - PROGRESS 
REPORT 

78 - 85

To present a progress report on the Community Centres Funding 
Project. 

13.  REGENERATION SITES PROGRAMME UPDATE 86 - 90

To present an update on the Councils Regeneration Sites Programme. 

14.  PROPOSED HOUSING DELIVERY JOINT VENTURE WITH 
GREATER MANCHESTER HOUSING PROVIDERS 

91 - 95

To present information relating to a proposed Housing Delivery Joint 
Venture with Greater Manchester Housing Providers 

15.  CHERWELL CENTRE LEASE & DEVELOPMENT OF CHERWELL 
VILLAGE APARTMENTS 

96 - 109

To present details of the arrangements relating to the Cherwell Centre 



Lease and proposed development of Cherwell Village Apartments. 

Cabinet Members
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor Daalat Ali
Councillor Jacqueline Beswick Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Richard Farnell Councillor Donna Martin E
Councillor Peter Williams

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James
01706 924711
Committee.Services@Rochdale.Gov.UK



CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 14 September 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Farnell ; Councillors Daalat Ali, Beswick, Brett, 
Neil Emmott, Farnell, Martin and Iftikhar Ahmed

OFFICERS:  S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), V. Bradshaw (Chief Finance 
Officer), J. Rooney (Assistant Director – Information, Customers & 
Communities), M. Garraway (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  1 member of public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Emsley and Councillor Williams

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
41 There were no declarations of interest.

FINANCE UPDATE REPORT 2017/18
42 The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources introduced a report 
updating Cabinet on the Council’s financial position as at the end of July 2017 
and sought approval of Budget Pressures Fund and Capital Virement 
expenditure.    

Alternatives considered:
Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 
regarded as critical to ensure that financial resources are spent in line with the 
budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables 
the early identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely 
corrective action.

Decision:
1. The 2017/18 Budget position for Capital, Revenue, Savings & the 

Collection Fund as at the end of July 2017 be noted;
2. That the reported Revenue Budget and Capital Budget adjustments be 

noted;
3. The Revenue Budget Pressure Fund requests detailed in paragraph 4.1.4 

of the submitted report be approved;
4. The Capital Virement request detailed in 4.4.2.paragraph of the submitted 

report, be approved;
5. The Capital Re-phasing and underspends be noted.

Reasons for the recommendations:
Effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are 
spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. 
Monitoring enables the early identification of variations against the plan and 
facilitates timely corrective action. The submitted report provided an overview 

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



of the Financial Position for the Council and focuses on the position as at the 
end of July 2017.  

COLLECTION FUND 2017/18
43 The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources introduced a report 
updating Cabinet on the Council’s Collection Fund outturn position as at the 
end of July 2017.

Alternatives considered:
That item was reported for information.

Decision:
That the Council’s Collection Fund outturn position as at the end of July 2017 
be noted.

Reason for decision:
Monitoring enables the early identification of variations against the plan and 
facilitates timely corrective action.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2018/19 TO 2022/23
44 The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources introduced a report 
updating Cabinet on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 
to 2022/23.

Alternatives considered: 
The item was reported for information.

Decision: 
That the position Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2018/19 to 2022/23 be 
noted.

Reason for decision: 
The Council is required to set a balanced budget for 2018/19 by the by 11th 
March 2018. The Medium Term Financial Strategy provides a key part of the 
budget setting process.

REVENUE BUDGET UPDATE 2018/19 TO 2020/21 AND SAVING 
PROGRAMME 2018/19 TO 2019/201
45 The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources introduced a report 
updating the Cabinet on the latest position regarding the Council’s Revenue 
Budget for 2018/19 to 2020/21, seeking approval of proposed a Savings 
Proposals not requiring service consultation and approval of consultation on 
identified Workforce Savings Proposals.

Alternatives considered: 
Whilst budgets are prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines a 
number of alternative options relating to savings proposals and budget 
pressures are considered as part of the overall budget setting process.

Decision:

Page 5



1. The Revenue Budget position for 2018/19 to 2020/21 and the potential 
risks around the Revenue Budget be noted;

2. Consideration of the Savings Proposals be undertaken at agenda item 12, 
following the exclusion of press and public from the meeting.

Reason for decision:
The Council is required to set a balanced budget for 2018/19 by the by 11th 
March 2018.

DISCRETIONARY FEES & CHARGES 2018/19
46 The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources introduced a report 
seeking approval to progress for consultation, proposed discretionary fees 
and charges for 2018/19.  

Alternatives considered: 
Not to review or increase our fees and charges. This would potentially reduce 
the income available to the Council and make it more difficult to achieve a 
balanced budget.

Decision:
That consultation be undertaken on the proposed discretionary fees and 
charges for 2018/19.  

Reason for decision:
The Authority carries out an annual review of discretionary fees and charges 
as part of the budget setting process. It is a requirement of this process that 
Elected Members agree a general level of increase for all income streams 
taking into account the prevailing rate of inflation. For the 2018/19 financial 
year, Elected Members are being asked to agree an increase of 2.0%, 
wherever possible to ensure that the Authority sets a balanced budget for the 
forthcoming year (2018/19).

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 TO 2020/21
47 The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources introduced a report 
seeking approval for submission to consultation on the proposed Capital 
Programme 2018/19 – 2020/21.

Alternatives considered: 
The Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2020/21 takes into consideration the 
priorities of the Council and the resources available.  Consultation on the 
proposed Capital Programme is legally required.

Decision:
The Capital Programme and provisional programmes for 2019/20 and 
2020/21, be approved to be sent out for consultation.

Reasons for decision:
The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced budget.  Budgets are 
prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines.

Page 6



EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
48 Decision: 
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following three items of business, in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

Reason for Decision: 
Should the press and public remain during debate on these items there may 
be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 and 
4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

REVENUE BUDGET UPDATE 2018/19 TO 2020/21 AND SAVING 
PROGRAMME 2018/19 TO 2019/20 ((PART B)
49 The Cabinet Member for Corporate & Resources introduced a report 
seeking approval of proposed Savings Proposals not requiring service 
consultation and approval of consultation on identified Workforce Savings 
Proposals.

In considering the report Cabinet Members sought clarification on work 
undertaken to provide alternative solutions to the proposed Savings 
Proposals.   

Alternatives considered: 
Whilst budgets are prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines a 
number of alternative options relating to savings proposals and budget 
pressures are considered as part of the overall budget setting process.

Decision:
1. The identified Savings Proposals not requiring Service consultation be 
approved;
2. The Workforce Savings Proposals requiring consultation be determined 
as follows:

Saving Proposal
EC-2018-19-010 Approved for consultation
NH-2018-19-015 Approved for consultation
NH-2018-19-019 Withdrawn
ICT-2018-19-021 Approved for consultation
NH-2018-19-022 Approved for consultation
NH-2018-19-023 Approved for consultation
NH-2018-19-016 Approved for consultation
 
Reason for decision:
The Council is required to set a balanced budget for 2018/19 by the by 11th 
March 2018.

Page 7



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 24th October 2017
Portfolio Councillor Jacqui Beswick

Cabinet Member for 
Health & Wellbeing

Report Author Nicola Rogers
Public/Private Document Public Document

Food and Feed Service Plan 2017-18

Executive Summary

1. This report presents the annual review of Council’s Food and Feed Service 
Plan. It identifies the scope and demands on the Service. It provides details of 
last year’s performance and details the way the Service proposes to continue 
to meet the Food Standards Agency’s mandatory guidance on inspection 
frequency. The report also proposes to introduce two new discretionary fees 
and charges in relation to two aspects of food hygiene matters.

Recommendation

2. Members are recommended to;

2.1 endorse the Service Plan set out in Appendix 1 as the authorities Food 
and Feed Service Plan for 2017-18; and

2.2 accept the Food Standards Agency letter dated 5 May 2017 (Appendix 2) 
acknowledging that the action plan has been fully implemented and thanking 
staff for the action taken to address the recommendations: and

2.3 endorse the introduction of two new discretionary fees and charges as set 
out in section 5 of the report, with effect from 1 January 2018 onwards: 

Reason for Recommendation

3. 3.1 The Food Standards Agency (FSA) was formed in 2000 in response to a 
number of damaging, high profile food scares. The FSA has set out in a 
Framework Agreement the levels of service to be provided by local authorities 
for Food Safety (hygiene), Food Standards (labelling and composition) and 
Animal Feeding stuffs. Local authorities are required to submit returns of both 
the qualitative and quantitative aspects of work carried out. The FSA carry out 
audits of local authorities as part of a “rolling programme”, to check 
compliance with the Framework Agreement.

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



3.2 It is a requirement of the Framework Agreement that local Food Authorities 
review their performance on an annual basis. This authority has traditionally 
chosen to do so by submitting it Food and Feed Plan for consideration by 
elected members at Cabinet.

3.3 The most recent Food Law Code of Practice (FLCoP) was issued in March 
2017 and informs Food Authorities on the execution and enforcement of food 
legislation. Food Authorities must have regard to this Code when discharging 
their statutory duties.

3.4 Previously the Code of Practice has acknowledged that Food Authorities 
would come under varying pressures and many would eventually be unable to 
meet their inspections programmes. The amended Code advises Authorities to 
discharge their duties as effectively as possible by using means appropriate to 
the circumstance. It states the Food Authorities should ensure that 
enforcement action is reasonable, proportionate, risk-based and consistent 
with good practice. It guides officers to take account of the full range of 
enforcement options. The Code acknowledges that interventions are the key 
to food business operators improving compliance with food legislation. It 
states that an Interventions Programme is central to a local regulatory and 
enforcement regime. The Code defines the different types of interventions, the 
circumstances and frequency in which they should be applied. The 
intervention ratings determine that more intensive regulation is directed at 
those businesses that present the greatest risk to public health. This is 
consistent with a risk based approach allowing professional judgement to 
apply a proportionate level of regulatory and enforcement activity to each food 
business.

3.5 In March 2015 the FSA conducted a formal inspection of our food safety 
function. The final report identified a number of areas in need of improvement 
which included; ensuring sufficient numbers of officers and resources to 
deliver the full range of enforcement activities, addressing the backlog of 
overdue interventions, inspections and interventions, Inspections needing to 
be carried out at frequencies not less that as specified in the Food Law Code 
of Practice; ensure all officers are appropriately qualified, authorised and 
trained,  review  the Enforcement Policy and ensure identified non-compliance 
is followed up by appropriate action.

3.6 An action plan was agreed with the FSA to address all the areas identified 
as in need of improvement. Additional recurrent and one-off public health 
financial resource was identified which enabled the procurement of additional 
staff and an external contractor to eradicate the backlog of overdue 
inspections. 

3.7 The FSA lead auditor has made three follow up visits to review progress 
on the action plan. Performance information has also been supplied regularly 
to the FSA lead auditor. The FSA letter dated 5 May 2017 to the Chief 
Executive confirms that the action plan has been fully implemented, the audit 
is now closed and staff are thanked for the action taken to address the 
recommendations. (Appendix 2)

Page 9



3.8 The FSA will continue to monitor performance of all local authorities but 
additional scrutiny will be placed on Rochdale Council to ensure that the 
improvements achieved over the last 2 year are sustained. 

Key Points for Consideration

4. 4.1 A copy of the Council’s Food and Feed Service Plan for 2017/18 is 
attached to this report as Appendix 1. The plan is retrospective in the sense 
that it looks back on performance in 2016/17. It  is current in that it sets out the 
targets for service delivery in 2017/18; and it is forward looking in that it 
considers the future inspection programme and considers issues which may 
impact upon the Service in future years. A summary of these issues are set 
out below;

4.2 Review of 2016/17

4.2.1 Section 4 of the Food and Feed Service Plan in Appendix 1 confirms that 
increased resources into the Service has resulted in increased performance, 
increased activity output and increased outcomes. It can be seen that the 
backlog of food hygiene “due inspections” has been completely eradicated.

4.2.2 A total of 1735 food hygiene interventions were completed which 
included;
781 inspections
376 verification / surveillance visits
67 sampling visits
48 advisory visits
463 information gathering activities

4.2.3 A total of 1016 enforcement actions were taken which involved;
993 written warnings
8 improvement notices and
15 voluntary closures of food premises

4.2.4 The percentage of broadly compliant premises has increased in the last 
12 months by 3% and currently 91% of food premises are complaint with food 
hygiene standards.

4.2.5 The Service received and dealt with a total of 563 complaints from 
members of the public;
407 complaints were regarding food purchased and
156 complaints were regarding the hygiene at food premises.
This is significant increase on the number of complaints dealt with last year 
(up by 64% on 2016-17 figures). The increase in Rochdale Borough is in line 
with a general national increase in the number of complaints received by local 
authorities. The FSA has acknowledge this national increase and suggests the 
reason is due to increased awareness amongst the public about the Food 
Hygiene Rating Scores for premises and also the FSA online reporting tool 
which makes it easy for the public to report concerns. 

Page 10



4.2.5 Performance in relation to food standards (labelling and composition) 
has increased slightly. Available resources have been targeted at premises 
posing higher risk, however the majority of medium and lower risk premises 
have inspections outstanding. The plan proposes the use of alternative 
enforcement strategies to reduce this number.

4.2.5 Work in relation to feed was carried out on Rochdale’s behalf by suitably  
qualified officers from Oldham Council. A total of 24 inspections were carried 
out and one alternative enforcement strategy at a lower risk premises.

4.3 Current Year 2017/18

4.3.1 Section 2 of the Service Plan in Appendix 1 confirms that on 1 April 2017 
a total of 1610 food premises and 97 feed premises were identified as in 
scope for enforcement purposes. Section 3 of Appendix 1 sets out the range 
of interventions (including inspections, proactive enforcement and business 
support and advice) which will be conducted in 2017/8, in accordance with the 
FSA Code of Practice. 

 
4.3.2 The Service is keen to maintain the improved performance in relation to 
compliance with the FSA Code of Practice particularly in relation to inspection 
frequencies. The level of resources needed is obviously dependant on the 
scale of the inspections programme in future years as well as the current year. 
The Plan details specifically the intervention programme for the current year.

4.3.3 It is projected that the current in-house officer resource will leave a 
shortfall of approximately 500 food hygiene “due Inspections”. The recurrent 
Public Health funding will allow the continued purchasing of inspections to 
meet this gap and this contract is currently being retendered. The purchased 
inspections will allow the Service to maintain compliance with the FSA Code of 
Practice on inspection frequency. 

4.3.4 In relation to food standards; the inspection programme has been 
identified for the current year. The impact of shifting from the NTSB risk rating 
to the FSA risk rating for food standards has had a significant impact and 
there is now a high number of premises now deemed to be unrated / yet to be 
assessed. It is therefore acknowledged that the resource for the current year 
will not facilitate inspections at all the premises due for inspection. It is 
therefore intended to continue to operate on a risk based inspection 
programme with priority given to the higher risk premises. Alternative 
enforcement strategies will be carried out at the lower risk premises (C’s) due 
for intervention this year. Inspections of the unrated / yet to be assessed 
premises will be undertaken on a risk based approach; highest risk first, 
informed by the historical NTSB risk rating. Inspections will also be carried out 
at premises subject to complaints. 

4.3.5 In relation to Feed, funding provided via Trading Standards North West 
will facilitate 12 feed inspections to be carried out by Oldham Council on 
Rochdale’s behalf.

 

Page 11



Alternatives Considered

4.4 None – the authority is obliged to produce an annual Food and Feed 
Service Plan.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. 5.1 In addition to the core public protection budget a recurrent budget of 
£100,000 has been committed by Public Health to improve Food Safety in the 
Borough. This additional funding allows for additional officer resource within 
the team and the purchase of high numbers of value for money inspections. 
This current level of resource is adequate to maintain delivery of interventions 
and inspections at the required frequency by using a mixture of in-house 
officers and contracted inspections.

5.2 There are two new developments across the Greater Manchester region 
which the 10 GM authorities propose to introduce and implement to ensure 
consistency across the region;

5.2.1 Charges for Food Hygiene rescoring revisits - These are when a food 
business gets a poor food hygiene rating score and they have the right to 
undertake improvements and then request a rescore visit. GM local authorities 
currently provide these rescore visits free of charge. The FSA have directed 
that LAs should make a recharge but this should be on a cost recovery basis 
only. Rochdale officers have worked with GM colleagues to identify the cost of 
such a rescore visit. It has been agreed across GM that a standardised fee of 
£165.00 be applied to businesses requesting a rescore visit. 

5.2.2 Charges for bespoke advisory visits – Rochdale currently provides 
advice and guidance to businesses during inspection visits and these are 
always followed up with written advice on legislative requirement and good 
practice advice. There is no intention to change for this. Some businesses 
however make contact and request bespoke advice, usually in relation to new 
or expanding business situations, refurbishments, new product lines etc. It is 
for these circumstances that some GM authorities already charge an hourly 
rate for bespoke advisory visits. Again discussions across GM local authorities 
have resulted in a proposed standardised hourly rate of £79.00 for this type of 
requested bespoke advice. 
 
5.2.3 All GM local authorities are going through their internal governance 
arrangements to introduce both the above charges. Rochdale will include 
these new fees in the discretionary fees and charges report for 2018-19. It is 
anticipated that these charges will yield approx. £4000 income per annum. It is 
proposed that the new charges be implemented from 1 January 2018. 

Risk and Policy Implications

6. 6.1. The work set out in the report is required to allow the authority to best 
comply with its statutory duties as set out in paragraph 3.1 above. Should the 
Council fail to provide sufficient resources to undertake and manage the work 

Page 12



there will be a breach of its statutory duty as food authority and will be 
subject to criticism and further challenge by the FSA. 

6.2 It is acknowledged that a large proportion of non-compliant food 
businesses are run by food business operators from ethnic minority 
communities. To assist the challenge of improving compliance in non-
compliant businesses, two team members speak minority languages as well 
as English. The Team also uses interpreters as required. The Team has 
commissioned resources and on-line training packages in minority 
languages.

6.3 There are no significant workforce equality issues arising from this report.

Consultation

7. The Food and Feed Service Plan will be presented to the Communities, 
Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Feedback 
from the Committee and the final report will be provided to Cabinet for 
approval.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Food Law Code of Practice, 
March 2017

Public Protection Service, Floor 3, 
Number 1 Riverside

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers, Tel: 01706 924124, 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 13



Appendix 1

FOOD & FEED
SERVICE PLAN

2017 / 2018

PUBLIC HEALTH & WELL-BEING
Public Protection Service

Business Engagement & Compliance Team

Service Manager / Lead Officer :  Nicola Rogers
Team Leader (Food Safety): Jackie Hall

Team Leader (Food Standards and Feed): Gary Singleton

Page 14



Contents  
Contents 2

1. Service Aims and Objectives 4

1.1 Aims and Objectives 4

1.2 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans 4

2. Background 4

2.1 Profile of the Local Authority 4

2.2 Organisational Structure 5

2.3 Scope of the Food & Feed Service 6

2.4 Demands on the Food Service 6

2.4.2 Business Profile – Risk Categories 7

2.4.3 Approved Premises 7

2.4.4 Service Delivery Points 7

2.4.5 External Factors 7

2.5 Enforcement Policy 7

2.6 Document Management 8

3. Service Delivery 8

3.1 Food and Feed Safety Premises Visits 8

3.1.1 Food Hygiene Inspections 8

3.1.2 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 9

3.1.3 Food Standards Inspections 9

3.1.4 Feed Inspections 10

3.2 Food & Feed Safety Complaints / Requests for Service 11

3.2.1 Food Hygiene 11

3.2.2 Food Standards and Feed 11

3.3 Primary Authority 12

3.4 Advice to Business 12

3.5. Food and Feed Safety Sampling 12

3.5.1 Food Hygiene Sampling Programme: 13

3.5.2 Food Standards Sampling Programme 13

3.5.3 Feed Sampling Programme 13

3.5.4   Arrangements for analysis and examination of samples 13

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease 13

3.7 Food and Feed Safety Alerts 13

3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations 13

Page 15



3.9 Food and Feed Safety Promotion 14

4. Resources 14

4.1 Financial Allocation 14

4.2 Staffing Allocation 15

4.3 Staff Development Plan 15

5. Quality Assessment 16

6. Performance 16

6.1 Review against the Service Plan 16

6.1.1 Food Hygiene 17

6.1.2 Food Standards 18

6.1.3 Feed 19

6.2 Identification of any variation from the Service Plan 19

6.2.1 Food Hygiene 19

6.2.2 Food Standards 19

6.2.3 Feed 20

6.3 Areas for Improvement 20

6.4 Future Challenges 20

6.4.1 Resources 20

6.4.2 Legislative 21

Page 16



1. Service Aims and Objectives

1.1 Aims and Objectives

Rochdale Council’s Public Protection Service aims to:

 ensure as far as possible the safety of food produced, sold and consumed within the 
Borough;

 ensure as far as possible the safety of feed produced, sold and used within the 
Borough;

 ensure as far as possible the safety of primary food production within the Borough;

 ensure as far as possible that food and feed meets appropriate quality standards, is 
correctly labelled and described and is free from contaminants;

 identify risks to the safety of food and feed produced or sold within the Borough and to 
advise and educate food businesses and take enforcement action where appropriate;

 support and promote the Food Standards Agency’s Food Hygiene Rating Scheme;

 support funded regional working via the Food Standards Agency, the National Trading 
Standards Board and the Trading Standards North West Food and Feed Groups; and

 develop the professional qualifications, competencies and experience of Food and 
Feed Safety officers.

1.2 Links to Corporate Objectives and Plans

Activities in this Plan directly link to the four key priorities identified in the current Corporate 
Delivery Plan, ie they are intended to ensure service delivery with co-operative values and 
ethics at the heart of what we do in relation to People; Place; Prosperity; and Public Service 
Reform.

2. Background

2.1 Profile of the Local Authority

Rochdale Borough is located in the north-east region of the Greater Manchester conurbation. 
The Borough covers 62 square miles of which about two-thirds is rural. It is characterised by 
urban developments of dense housing and industrial areas located along major roadways.

The Borough is divided into four Townships based around the towns of Rochdale, Heywood 
and Middleton, together with the eastern urban area, the Pennines Township.

Full information about the profile of the Borough can be found on the Council’s website at 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2011-Borough-Profile.pdf

Page 17

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2011-Borough-Profile.pdf


2.2 Public Protection Service 

The Public Protection Service is located within the Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate 
and portfolio. 

 

CABINET

PORTFOLIO HOLDER OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY

PUBLIC HEALTH
Director of Public Health

PUBLIC PROTECTION SERVICE
Consultant in Public Health

CORE FUNCTIONS
Service Manager

Lead Officer (Food Safety)
Lead Officer (Food Standards 

and Feed)

ANIMAL FEED
Oldham Trading Standards FOOD 

STANDARDS
 

0.15 FTE

FOOD HYGIENE

3.9 FTE 

LANCASHIRE COUNTY 
SCIENTIFIC SERVICES

Public Analyst

NATIONAL TRADING 
STANDARDS BOARD

Feed Funding

HEALTH PROTECTION 
AGENCY

Food Examiner

ICT / APP 
SUPPORT

0.2 FTE

ADMIN 
SUPPORT

1 FTE

INFECTIOUS 
DISEASES

0.2 FTE

COUNCIL

Page 18



2.3 Scope of the Food & Feed Service

The Food Service is provided by Rochdale Council’s Public Protection Service. The following 
is a list of the main food related responsibilities:

 provide a high quality food service in accordance with the FSA Framework Agreement 
(April 2010);

 undertake programmed food safety and food standards inspections of food premises, with 
reference to the FSA Code of Practice (March 2017). Available resources are targeted at 
the higher-risk premises;

 carry out investigation of complaints regarding food premises and items of food produced 
or sold within the Borough (applying risk-based criteria);

 liaise with other local authorities in relation to businesses for which the authority acts as 
Primary Authority and providing advice to these businesses where appropriate;

 dealing with basic requests for information and advice from food businesses and 
signposting where appropriate;

 introduce consistent GM wide recharges for requested Food Hygiene Rating Score 
rescore revisits and requested bespoke advisory visits

 participate in the AGMA Food Liaison Group, TSNW Food & Agriculture Group and other 
regional / national agencies; and

 control and investigate outbreaks of food-related infectious disease (provided in 
conjunction with other Public Protection staff).

Feed Service delivery is co-ordinated by Rochdale Council’s Lead Officer (Feed) but the 
inspection of premises handling animal feed and sampling is carried out by Oldham Trading 
Standards.

2.4 Demands on the Food Service

2.4.1 Business Profile – Business Types

The breakdown of premises by business type liable for enforcement at 1st April 2017 is as 
follows:

Food Safety
(Hygiene and Standards)

Feed Safety

Primary Producer 7 Co Product Producer (R12) 9
Manufacturer / Packer 31 Stores (R9) 4
Importer / Exporter 1 Distributor (R5) 3
Distributor / Transporter 21 Transporter (R8) 3
Retailers 428 On Farm Mixer (R10/11) 4
Restaurants & Caterers 1122 Pet Food Manufacturer (R6) 1

Supplier of Surplus Food 
9R7)

19

Livestock Farms (R13) 53
Arable Farms (R14)                                                                                            1

TOTAL 1610 TOTAL 97

Page 19



2.4.2 Business Profile – Risk Categories 

The breakdown of premises by risk category liable for enforcement at 1st April 2016 is as 
follows:

Food Hygiene Food Standards Feed Safety

Cat A (Highest Risk)  11 High Risk (A) 3 High Risk 1
Cat B 72 Medium Risk (B) 363 Medium Risk 2
Cat C 318 Low Risk (C) 1195 Low Risk 39
Cat D 598 Unrated / Uncoded 49 Unrated 55
Cat E (Lowest risk) 512 
Unrated 36 
TOTAL 1610 TOTAL 1610 TOTAL 97

2.4.3 Approved Premises

The Authority is responsible for approving premises carrying out specialist processes, which 
fall within the scope of EC Regulation 853/2004. The numbers of these premises are as 
follows:

Approved Premises

Dairy Products 6
Meat Products 4
Minced Meat & Meat Preparations 2
Cold Stores 3
TOTAL 15

2.4.4 Service Delivery Points 

The Public Protection Service is based at Number One Riverside, Floor 3, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU and operates between 8.45am and 4.45pm, Monday to Friday

The service can also be contacted by telephone via the Council’s Contact Centre (0300 303 
8871), the Citizens Advice Consumer Service (0345 404 0506), through the website 
‘www.rochdale.gov.uk’ and by email (environmental.health@rochdale.gov.uk)
 

2.4.5 Demographic Factors

Approximately 21% of Rochdale’s population are from an ethnic minority background. Those 
of Pakistani origin form the largest proportion at 10.5%, with other ethnicities such as 
Bangladeshi and Chinese making up another 4%. The most deprived 3% of areas in the 
Borough have a bigger proportion of people from minority ethnic backgrounds (up to 
30%).Traditionally a significant proportion of food business operators are from ethnic minority 
groups and a proportion of non-compliant food businesses are run by ethnic minorities.

2.5 Enforcement Policy

The Council has a Public Protection Enforcement Policy 2015 which covers the requirements 
for both Food and Feed Safety enforcement. The policy was developed in accordance with 

Page 20

mailto:environmental.health@rochdale.gov.uk


the Regulators’ Compliance Code (2014) and the Framework Agreement on Official Feed and 
Food Controls by Local Authorities (2010).  It was formally adopted by Rochdale Council’s 
Cabinet on 29 June 2015 and is displayed on the Council’s website. 

2.6 Document Management

Records of all Food and Feed Safety enforcement work are stored in digital format and are 
retained for 6 years.

3. Service Delivery

3.1 Food and Feed Safety Premises Visits

3.1.1 Food Hygiene Inspections

Food Hygiene inspections should be carried out on the basis of risk-based prioritisation, in line 
with the FSA Code of Practice. The Code sets out the frequencies at which routine food 
hygiene visits to food businesses should be made as follows:  

Category Minimum frequency

A Highest risk At least every six months
B At least every 12 months
C At least every 18 months
D At least every 24 months
E Lowest risk Alternative enforcement strategies every 36 months

Inspection programme

In previous years, the Section has struggled to undertake a full inspection programme in 
compliance with FSA Code of Practice due to resource constraints.  However, the provision of 
recurrent funding from Public Health has enabled the Section to manage the previous backlog 
of “due inspections” and allow all current due inspections to also be completed. The challenge 
for the Service is to now maintain compliance with the FSA Code of Practice inspection 
frequency. The level of resources needed is obviously dependant on the scale of the 
inspection programme moving forward. The table below provides the details of numbers of 
inspections due based on current risk ratings of the current food businesses within the 
Borough;

Food Hygiene

Premises 
Total No’s 

Inspections 
due 2017/18

Cat A (Highest risk)  11 11
Cat B 72 72
Cat C 318 253
Cat D 598 352
Cat E (Lowest risk) 512 15
Unrated 36 36
TOTAL 1610 739

Page 21



With current resources the inspection programme for the current year can be completely 
fulfilled if funding levels are maintained.

Where appropriate and necessary, inspections will also be carried out at premises subject to 
complaints. It is anticipated the in-house resource will be sufficient to manage this workload.

Proactive Enforcement

The current level of officer resource also allows the following proactive enforcement work to 
be carried during 2017/18 in order to raise compliance in food businesses;
 

 ATP swabbing to be used to determine the effective of cleaning in food premises
 Training project and support for new businesses including on-line training in different 

languages, food allergen leaflets in translated languages – Urdu, Chinese, Punjabi, 
Polish, & Hindu, on site allergen testing kits in peanuts & gluten  

 AGMA Healthy Catering Award Scheme in schools (commitment to involve all schools 
within the Borough by 2020)

 Retail violence initiative targeted at takeaway premises
 Use of social media to raise awareness of Food Hygiene Rating Scores and general 

food safety awareness linked around National Food Safety week and seasonal events  
ie Valentines, Christmas, Easter etc

3.1.2 Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

The Service participates in the FSA’s Food Hygiene Rating Scheme. This involves retail and 
catering businesses being given a food hygiene rating after each full hygiene inspection. They 
are provided with a window sticker which they are asked to display at their premises. The 
results are also available through the Council’s website and as part of the Food Standards 
Agency national scheme.

The ratings allow consumers to make informed decisions about where they may wish to eat or 
purchase food and will help to improve hygiene standards by publicising information about 
individual businesses. The ratings are as follows:

0 (Lowest) Urgent Improvement Needed
1 Major Improvement Needed
2 Improvement Needed
3 Generally Satisfactory
4 Good
5 (Highest) Very Good

Where premises receive rating scores of 0-2 (non-compliant), follow up work and appropriate 
enforcement actions and revisits are carried out to raise standards and move the premises 
back into compliance. 

3.1.3 Food Standards Inspections

Food Standards inspections should be carried out on the basis of risk-based prioritisation. 
Historically the Service has used the National Trading Standards Board (NTSB) risk rating 
criteria to risk rate the premises within the Borough. This resulted in a relatively small number 
of premises being rated as high risk and a large number of medium and lower risk premises. 
Risk based prioritisation resulted in the majority of the lower risk premises not being subject to 
an inspection. 

Page 22



The risk rating criteria used by the NTSB are slightly different than the FSA risk rating criteria. 
For consistency the Service switched to the FSA risk rating criteria for food standards during 
2016-17, thus ensuring that both Food Hygiene and Food Standards follow the FSA risk rating 
criteria.  This has resulted in a large number of premises being deemed to be “yet to be 
assessed” under the FSA criteria. 

The FSA Code of Practice sets out the frequencies at which routine food standards 
inspections of food businesses should be made as follows:

Category Minimum frequency

A Highest risk At least every 12 months
B At least every 24 months
C Lowest risk Alternative enforcement strategies every 60 months

Inspection programme

The table below provides the details of numbers of inspections due based on the current FSA 
risk ratings;

Premises 
Total No’s 

Inspections 
due 2016/17

A (Highest risk) 3 3
B 363 77
C (Lowest risk) 1195 374
Unrated / yet to be assessed 49 1079
TOTAL 1610 1533

The inspections will continue to be risk based and the “due inspections” at the higher risk 
premises (A’s and B’s) will be fully completed. Alternative enforcement strategies will be 
carried out at the lower risk premises (C’s) due for intervention this year. 

It is acknowledged that the resource for the current year will not facilitate inspections at the 
high number of unrated / yet to be assessed premises. It is therefore intended to continue to 
operate on a risk based approach; highest risk first, informed by the historical NTSB risk 
rating.

3.1.4 Feed Inspections

In 2013, the Food Standards Agency committed funding to the delivery of animal feed 
enforcement work via the National Trading Standards Board. This funding has been reduced 
year on year and subsequently in 2017/18 funding is provided for 12 Feed Inspections to be 
carried out in Rochdale.

The table below details the types of premises and the numbers of inspections to be completed 
during 2017-18;

Page 23



 Inspections
Manufacturer (A1-A8/R1-
R4/R6/A11)
Co Product Producer - R12 3
Mobile Mixer - R4
Importers
Stores - R9 1
Distributor (A1-A8/R1-R3/R5/A11)
Transporter - R8 1
On Farm Mixer - R10 and R11 2
Pet Food Manufacturer – R06
Supplier of Surplus Food - R7 2
Livestock farms - R13 3
Arable Farms – R14
Total: 12

As none of the qualified officers in this Service have the required competencies and Continual 
Professional Development, this work in 2017/18 will continue to be carried out on our behalf 
by Oldham Trading Standards.

3.2 Food & Feed Safety Complaints / Requests for Service

3.2.1 Food Hygiene

Complaints and requests for service in respect of food and the hygiene of food premises are 
dealt with in line with documented procedures.  All complaints received are assessed by the 
Team Leader (Food), with the level of investigation / action being determined based on the 
risk to public health arising from the complaint.

We will continue to prioritise the most serious complaints and selection criteria have been 
developed to determine which complaints will take priority.

Approximately 600 complaints and service requests are expected to be dealt with in 2017/18.   

All requests for ‘Health Certificates’ are dealt with to enable local businesses to export food. A 
charge is made for this work. Approximately 100 such requests are expected to be dealt with 
in 2017/18.

3.2.2 Food Standards and Feed

All food standards complaints are recorded and assessed for further action in line with 
documented procedures. The possible actions which are available, are included in the 
Enforcement Policy and are determined by the Team Leader (Commercial Practices) in 
consultation with the Lead Officer.

Page 24



The Service expects to receive approximately 40 complaints and requests for trader advice 
per annum relating to food standards and feeding stuffs. From 1 April 2012 the service 
previously provided by Consumer Direct was transferred to the Citizens Advice Consumer 
Service. This situation remains.

3.3 Primary Authority 

The aim of the Primary Authority Principle is to increase communication between local 
authorities dealing with businesses, which have multiple premises located in different parts of 
the country. It is a legal requirement that regulatory services comply with the Primary Authority 
Principle. The benefits of the Principle are as follows:

 greater enforcement consistency;
 increased efficiency and reduced enforcement duplication;
 preventative enforcement through advice on compliance;
 resolution of conflicts between different authorities and between authorities and 

businesses;
 better understanding and awareness of commercial issues;
 increased understanding of local businesses; and
 enhanced technical and audit expertise.

Proposed changes to partnership governance rules expected to take place in October 2017  
has resulted in the 10 GM local authorities working collaboratively to create a Greater 
Manchester Centre of Excellence to support primary authority partnerships.

Rochdale does  not currently have any Primary Authority Partnership Agreements in place 
relating to food but promotional work around the combined centre of Excellence may result in 
partnerships within the Borough being developed during 2017/18.

3.4 Advice to Business

The service will continue to provide assistance to business, to help them to comply with the 
requirements of legislation and improve compliance.  This will primarily take place during 
routine inspections, complaint investigations and by signposting to extensive online guidance.

All written documentation clearly differentiates between legal requirements and 
recommendations for business improvements.

As a result of Public Health funding, the following proactive work will incorporate business 
advice during 2017/18:   

 Training project and support for new businesses and non-compliant businesses 
including the provision of food hygiene manuals, training courses, on-line training in 
different languages, food allergen leaflets in translated languages – Urdu, Chinese, 
Punjabi, Polish, & Hindu, on site allergen testing kits in peanuts & gluten  

 AGMA Healthy Catering Award Scheme in schools
 Support FSA National Food Safety Week and seasonal campaigns via social media
 Promote Food Hygiene rating scheme through social media

3.5. Food and Feed Safety Sampling

The Food Standards Agency Framework agreement requires local authorities to develop a 
sampling programme which should include the following:

 samples submitted following a complaint;

Page 25



 samples taken as part of an investigation of a suspected food poisoning outbreak; and
 routine sampling, to assess the safety of particular foods.

3.5.1 Food Hygiene Sampling Programme:

Without FSA funding for food hygiene samples this year, priority will be given to samples from 
non-compliant businesses and those required during outbreak investigations.  It is anticipated 
70 samples will be taken in 2017/18.

3.5.2 Food Standards Sampling Programme

For several years the Food Standards Agency has committed funding to food standards 
sampling work via bids from regional food groups. Rochdale will continue to utilise this funding 
if it continues to be available during 2017/18. 

3.5.3 Feed Sampling Programme

Since 2013, the Food Standards Agency has committed funding to feed sampling work via the 
National Trading Standards Board. Rochdale will continue to utilise this funding if it continues 
to be available during 2017/18. 

3.5.4   Arrangements for analysis and examination of samples

The authority’s Public Analyst is Lancashire County Scientific Services.

The Food Examiner who carries out microbiological analysis of food samples is the Health 
Protection Agency (York Laboratory).

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease

The Council liaises with  the Health Protection team in Public Health England on all matters 
relating to the control and investigation of food related infectious disease. When required an 
Outbreak Control Team is convened in accordance with criteria laid down in the Infectious 
Disease Outbreak and Control Plan, and includes representatives from the Council.

The investigation of suspected outbreaks is carried out in conjunction with the Public 
Protection Service Communities Team.

3.7 Food and Feed Safety Alerts

Food Alerts are issued by the Food Standards Agency to advise local authorities and 
consumers of foods which may not comply with food safety standards. These are dealt with in 
line with documented procedures, which comply with the guidance provided in the FSA Code 
of Practice ensuring that all food alerts ‘For Action’ are dealt with.

3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations

The Public Protection Service is committed to being involved in liaison with other local 
authorities, and associated organisations, to achieve consistency and to maintain our level of 
knowledge and understanding in a rapidly changing area of work. This is done by being 
actively involved in a number of Groups, including:

 AGMA Food Liaison Group;
 AGMA Public Protection Partnership;
 Public Health England;
 Trading Standards North West Food & Agriculture Group;

Page 26



 Trading Standards North West Feed Group; and
 The Rochdale Borough Partnership Enforcement Team;
 Participation in FSA Communication for Compliance pilot

We also have consultation arrangements with other service providers within the Council in 
respect of:

 applications for planning approval;
 Building Regulations approval; and
 applications under the Licensing Act 2003.

3.9 Food and Feed Safety Promotion

In addition to the advisory activities carried out to support food businesses set out above, 
work is continuing to increase awareness of the importance of food safety and healthy eating 
amongst consumers. This includes the promotion of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme, 
AGMA Healthy Catering Award and FSA seasonal campaigns.  

The Service will also be supporting businesses by the use of technology;
The Service has 2 ATP swabbing machines; these immediately detect and quantify 
cleanliness of surfaces.
The Service will also be using allergen testing kits; again providing an immediate indication as 
to whether food allergens are present. General and bespoke information on food allergens will 
continue to be provided to businesses and consumers at every opportunity. Events organised 
by Link4Life are also supported. 

4. Resources 

4.1 Financial Allocation

The Food Hygiene and Food Standards teams have previously been part of separate teams 
within the Public Protection Service, but from June 2015 are both part of the same section 
(covering Core functions).  However, Food Safety work is not carried out in isolation. As such, 
figures for financial resources are based on the staffing levels identified in section 4.2 below.

Food Hygiene Food Standards
Expenditure
Employee Costs         181,554            15,563 
Other running costs            11,000              1,000 
Externally Contracted Inspections            40,000             5,000 
TOTAL         232,554            21,563 

Income
Public Health Funding            90,000            10,000 
TOTAL            90,000 10,000

NET         142,554                    11,536 

Page 27



4.2 Staffing 

The Food Hygiene, Food Standards and Feed functions are co-ordinated by the Lead Officer 
(Food) and Lead Officer (Feed) in the Public Protection Service.  The Service also carries out 
a wide range of associated functions including Health and Safety, Commercial Practices, 
Private Water Supplies, Air Quality and Environmental Permitting.

The officers involved in providing Food Hygiene and Food Standards work are professionally  
qualified, have the appropriate experience and competencies, have knowledge of the 
Borough’s food business environment and receive at least 20 hours Continuing Professional 
Development per annum, as required by the FSA’s Code of Practice. They consist of:

Service Manager: (Core) (NR) Lead Officer (Food), Lead Officer (Feed) 
and responsible for a wide range of other 
regulatory functions.
10% of time spent on Food and Feed

Team Leader: Food Hygiene (JH) 80% of time spent on Food Hygiene work
Team Leader: Health & Safety / ICT (GPF) 20% of time spent on Food Safety work
Team Leader: Commercial Practices (GS) 15% of time spent on Food Standards work
Senior Public Protection Officers 
(DM, GW, GS)
(KA)
(PM)

80% of time spent on Food Hygiene work
50% of time spent on Food Hygiene work
35% of time spent on Food Hygiene work

Team Leader (LB)
Senior Officer (SA)

10% of each officer’s time spent on 
Infectious disease investigations by 
Communities Team

Admin Officer (MP) 100% of time on Food Safety work 

Feed Safety work is provided by appropriately qualified officers from Oldham’s Trading 
Standards Service.

4.3 Staff Development Plan

The training and development of staff is essential to ensure that officers are able to carry out 
their duties effectively. Each year, officers are asked to identify their needs as far as training is 
concerned during Performance and Development Reviews. Managers then assess these 
against the needs of the service in order to ensure that the appropriate 20 hours of Continuing 
Professional Development training are attained.

Training for staff is provided in a number of ways:

 induction training for new members of staff;
 courses provided by the Council’s Communications Team & Virtual College;
 training provided by the FSA through the AGMA Food Liaison Group and TSNW Food 

and Feed Groups;
 courses and seminars provided by external organisations;
 in-house training including team meetings and instruction provided on-the-job and on a 

one-to-one basis; and
 regional team meetings ie AGMA Food Group
 subscription to ABC Training online provider

Page 28



Officers attending external courses and seminars as appropriate are expected to cascade the 
learning and give a presentation to the rest of the team. This can range from a simple 
overview of the event to a more formal presentation providing considerable detail; including 
copies of hand-outs, etc.

5. Quality Assessment

The documented procedures have been reviewed to verify conformance with the FSA 
Framework Agreement, relevant legislation, codes of practice, documented policies and 
procedures. These include:

 monitoring of officers work by the Team Leaders and Service Manager;
 inspection targets;
 team meetings;
 accompanied inspections;
 one-to-one meetings with officers;
 identification of training needs;
 review of documents; and
 review of complaints against the service.

6. Performance

6.1 Review against the Service Plan

The Service Manager and Team Leaders monitor and review performance against the Service 
Action Plan at monthly 1-2-1 meetings; team meetings (every 6 weeks); and on an annual 
basis. 

A full annual review is carried out during April each year to enable the annual local authority 
performance return to be completed and submitted to the Food Standards Agency. 
Performance data is included in the subsequent years annual Service Plan and is reported to 
elected members via Cabinet. 

Increased resources over the last year have resulted in increased performance, increased 
activity output and increased outcomes for the Borough. The performance for the year 
2016/17 was as follows:

Page 29



6.1.1 Food Hygiene

Inspections
Risk Rating

Due Done Outstanding

A (Highest Risk) 53 53 0 

B 164 164 0

C 564 564 0

D 505 505 0

E (Lowest Risk) 141 141 0 

Unrated 308 308 0 

TOTAL 1735 1735 (100%) 0

Risk Rating Broadly Compliant Premises

A (Highest Risk) 1 

B 42

C 342

D 589

E (Lowest Risk) 512

TOTAL 1468 (91%)

(88% in 2015/16 

Enforcement Actions Premises Numbers
Voluntary Closure 15

Improvement Notice 8

Advisory Notice 993

TOTAL 1022

Samples Satisfactory Unsatisfactory

69 microbiological 
analysis

65 (94%) 4 (6%)

(10% in 2015/16)

Page 30



Complaints Number

Food 407

Hygiene of Premises 156

TOTAL 563

(343 in 2015/16)

6.1.2 Food Standards          

Inspections
Risk Rating

Due Done Outstanding
High (A) 2 1 1

Med (B) 118 34 84

Low (C) 795 71 724

Unrated 2 2 0

TOTAL 917 108 (12%) 809 (88%)

(96% in 2015/16)

Risk Rating Broadly Compliant Premises

High (A) 1

Med (B) 354

Low (C) 1195

TOTAL 1550 (96%)

(95% in 2015/16)

Enforcement Actions Number

Written warnings 108

(72 in 2015/16)

Prosecutions 1

(0 in 2015/16)

Page 31



Samples Satisfactory Unsatisfactory

17 analysed 13 (76%) 4 (24%)

(30% in 2015/16)

Complaints Number

Food 41
(35 in 2015/16)

6.1.3 Feed

Category Inspections
Alternative 

Enforcement 
Strategies

A1-A8/R1-R3/R5/A11 (Distributor) 2 0

R7 (Supplier of surplus food) 5 1

R8 (Transporter) 2 0

R10 (On Farm Mixer) 2 0

R12 (Co Products) 4 0

R13 (Livestock) 9 0

TOTAL:

24

(100%)

1

(100%)

6.2 Identification of any variation from the Service Plan

6.2.1 Food Hygiene

None - all due inspections were completed meaning the inspection programme was 100% 
completed. 

6.2.2 Food Standards 

The additional Public Health funding allowed for an increased number of food standards 
inspections to be carried during the year, however a large proportion of the premises due for 
inspection remain outstanding. The proposed use of alternative enforcement strategies for the 
lower risk premises and a risk based approach to the unrated / yet to be assessed premises 
aims to reduce this number during 2017/18. 

Page 32



6.2.3 Feed

None - all 24 of the funded feed visits were carried out, and 1 alternative enforcement strategy 
was undertaken. All work was carried out on this Council’s behalf by suitably-qualified 
colleagues from Oldham Council. 

6.3 Areas for Improvement

It is acknowledged that the Public Protection Service was not compliant with the requirements 
of the FSA’s Code of Practice on inspection frequency in previous years. The audit conducted 
by the FSA in March 2015 concentrated on food hygiene and raised the profile and priority of 
this work within the Council. Additional resource and a significant amount of effort by officers 
and management has been put into place to address this. The Service is very proud that 
these efforts have eradicated the backlog of “due inspections” and allowed the full inspection 
programme to be completed for food hygiene.

The shift to the FSA risk rating criteria has resulted in a large number of unrated / yet to be 
assessed premises. It is intended to address these premises in a risk based approached 
informed by the historical NTSB risk rating. 

Feed work will continue to be undertaken at the capacity dictated by the available funding via 
Trading Standards North West.

6.4 Future Challenges

The following areas have been identified as challenges to effective, compliant Food Safety 
and Feed Safety service delivery for 2017/18; 

6.4.1 Resources

A historical lack of resource within the Service resulted in identification of areas in need of 
improvement by the FSA in March 2015. It is acknowledged that these areas have 
successfully been addressed. The challenge moving forward is to ensure that the Service 
maintains the improvements made and does not revert back to under-performance. The key 
to maintain performance is to maintain an appropriate level of resource to enable compliance 
with the FSA Code of Practice on inspection frequency.

The current resources available to the Service in 2017/18 allow a variety of interventions to be 
delivered.  In–house officers provide a high quality, consistent service including programmed 
inspections at the higher risk premises, reactive interventions in relation to complaints and 
intelligence received, enforcement action, proactive interventions raising awareness for 
consumers and providing business supporting and bespoke advice. The additional revenue 
resource funds additional officers and allows the purchase of high numbers of inspections at 
medium and lower risk premises. 

The current contract for inspections and the procurement process has shown that 
procurement in an open market can drive down unit costs and the purchase of high numbers 
of inspections can provide high value for money. Rochdale has worked with STaR 
procurement to develop a framework to procure inspections for all 10 GM local authorities. It 
is anticipated that this framework will further drive down costs due to the greater buying power 
of the 10 local authorities. 

Page 33



6.4.2 Legislative

Exiting the EU will have an impact on Food Law in the UK. Many legislative changes will need 
to be implemented to ensure standards are embedded into UK legislation;

The FSA have recently published a paper “regulating our future” which sets out fundamental 
changes on how English local authorities regulate food businesses. It recognised that the 
global food market has changed dramatically over the years and that regulation needs to keep 
up. It proposes enhanced registration and segmentation of food businesses, introduces  
assurance schemes, whilst retaining some inspection role for LAs; 

The Food Law Code of Practice (2017) implemented a requirement to ensure qualified officers 
have 20 hours continuing Professional Development per annum;

Revised Feed Law Code of Practice (2015);

Food Information Regulations 2014 and the allergen labelling requirement (December 2014) 
for all food; prepacked and non-prepacked;

In Wales and Northern Ireland charges for Food Hygiene Rating rescore visits are in place. 
FSA England have advised that LA’s can now put in place a mechanism for cost recovery 
from businesses. GM local authorities have proposed a standardised fee of £165 for a rescore 
under the Food Hygiene Rating Score scheme. In line with Primary Authority charges, 
propose a charge for bespoke advisory visits at £79 per hour.

Page 34



 

 

 

 

Aviation House 
125 Kingsway 
London WC2B 6NH 
T 020 7276 8202 
E mark.davis@foodstandards.gsi.gov.uk 
 

Mr S Rumbelow   
Chief Executive 
Rochdale Borough Council  
 
By email 
 
5 May 2017 Reference: EPA 30/811 
 
Dear Mr Rumbelow 
 
FOOD STANDARDS AGENCY AUDIT OF SERVICE DELIVERY AND FOOD 
BUSINESS COMPLIANCE - Rochdale Borough Council -  
17-15 March 2015 
 
I am writing to you in regard to the above audit of Rochdale Borough Council 
and your authority’s progress in implementing the agreed Action Plan. The 
most recent update was provided by Nicola Rogers Service Manager 
(Communities) Public Protection.    
   
We have reviewed the information provided and the Action Plan has now 
been fully implemented. The completed Action Plan will be placed on the 
Agency’s website and our files for the audit will be closed.   
 
We will continue to monitor the delivery of official controls for food by the 
Authority via the Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System.  
 
I would like to thank you and your staff for the action taken to address the 
recommendations in the audit report. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Mark Davis 
Head of Regulatory Division Assurance Team 
Regulatory Delivery Division 
 

Page 35



Cc: Nicola Rogers, Service Manager (Communities) Public Protection.    
   
   

Page 36



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 24th October 2017
Councillor Donna Martin

Portfolio Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Fay Davies
Public/Private Document Public

The Need for Extra Year 7 School places 2017- 2027

Executive Summary

1. This report presents information on the School Place Planning from 2017 to 
2027 for secondary places and the need for extra Year 7 places for 2017 – 
2027.

Recommendation

2. That Cabinet approves the opening of a consultation on the provision of 
additional Year 7 places for 2017 – 2027.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Each Local authority has a statutory duty to secure a sufficient number of 
school places in their area.  

Key Points for Consideration

4
.

The Borough has seen consistent growth in the Primary school cohorts. In 2005 
Reception numbers were 2450 and this year are predicted to be 3100. This is a 
550 increase in Reception numbers. Secondary cohort sizes started to increase in 
2012 and are expected to mirror and exceed the Primary increases until 2024. 
Secondary cohorts started at a low of 2200 pupil and are expected to increase to 
3300, which is an increase of 1100. The disparity in increases in cohort sizes in 
Reception and Year 7 is due to both, the recent increases in cohort size that have 
occurred throughout the Primary years (55%), and the forecasted increase in 
housing builds (45%). Full details are set out in Appendix One.

4.1 Secondary provision has been hugely expanded over the last few years with 
an extra 280 places having already been provided or currently being built. Building 
work has provided extra places at Holy Family RC&CE College, Cardinal Langley 
RC High School, Falinge Park High School and Hollingworth Academy since 
September 2016. Additional extra places will be in place for September 2017 at 
Kingsway Park and Falinge Park, and for September 2018 at Matthew Moss High 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



School.  Middleton Technology School had a major restructure in 2013/14 to 
accommodate an extra 60 children per year group. The following tables give a 
summary of year 7 spaces and places needed up to 2027/28 for the two areas; 
Heywood and Middleton and Pennines and Rochdale. It also reviews what plans 
have been put into place and suggests possible ways forward where needed. 

4.1.1 Heywood and Middleton: There is consistently a net movement into this 
area with more children attending secondary schools in this area than attended 
primary schools. The table below shows that although we will meet the demand 
for places this September (2017), extra provision will need to be in place for 
September 2018 and every year beyond. Current forecasts show the existing 
large cohorts in primary years move through into secondary with the growth in 
numbers stabilising after 2023. A Free School bid is currently being put together 
by Hopwood Hall College, supported by the sixth form college, with the aim of it 
being submitted in September 2017. Without this new school in the area the 
pupils currently attending our primary schools will be without secondary places to 
go to. Full details are set out in Appendix Two.

Heywoo
d and 

Middleto
n 20

17
-1

8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

20
20

-2
1

20
21

-2
2

20
22

-2
3

20
23

-2
4

20
24

-2
5

20
25

-2
6

20
26

-2
7

20
27

-2
8

YEAR 7 
Places 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015

Year 7 
Expecte
d Pupils

1011 1058 1087 1124 1209 1278 1290 1259 1285 1231 1267

Year 6 
Pupils 940 983 1015 1046 1120 1187 1200 1171 1194 1152 1188

Extra 
Places 
Needed

-43 -72 -109 -194 -263 -275 -244 -270 -216 -252

Options

Proposal for 2018:
i) Provide an additional 30 places at Siddal Moor in existing accommodation.

Proposals for 2019 onwards:
ii) Consult on an additional 30 (60 total) places at Siddal Moor by extending school
iii) Establish a new 180 place Free school in the Middleton area by 2020.
iv) The shortfall in extra spaces will need to be sought through additional building at existing schools. Co-

operation from secondary Academies will be vital to the provision of sufficient school places as options at 
LA maintained schools have been fully utilised

4.1.2 Pennines and Rochdale: In this combined region there is significant net 
movement of children out of the area to attend secondary schools in other areas. 
A pupil deficit is expected to grow with a peak of an extra 227 spaces needed by 
2024. Along with the extra need in the Heywood-Middleton area extra places will 
need to be put in place by 2019. Full details for are set out in Appendix Three.

Pennine
s and 
Rochdal
e

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

20
20

-2
1

20
21

-2
2

20
22

-2
3

20
23

-2
4

20
24

-2
5

20
25

-2
6

20
26

-2
7

20
27

-2
8

YEAR 7 
Places 1775 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830

Page 38



Year 7 
Expecte
d Pupils

1683 1814 1901 1959 1885 1898 2009 2057 1929 1953 1945

Year 6 
Pupils 1790 1929 2021 2081 2000 2012 2131 2185 2051 2080 2075

Extra 
Places 
Needed

-71 -129 -55 -68 -179 -227 -99 -123 -115

Options

Proposals for 2019 onwards:
i) Establish a new 180 place Free school in the area by 2022
ii) The shortfall in extra spaces will need to be sought through additional building at existing schools. Co-

operation from secondary Academies will be vital to the provision of sufficient school places as options at 
LA maintained schools have been fully utilised

4.1.3  Borough-wide: 

Boroug
h

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

20
20

-2
1

20
21

-2
2

20
22

-2
3

20
23

-2
4

20
24

-2
5

20
25

-2
6

20
26

-2
7

20
27

-2
8

YEAR 7 
Places 2790 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845

Year 7 
Expecte
d Pupils

2694 2873 2987 3083 3094 3176 3299 3315 3215 3185 3212

Year 6 
Pupils 2730 2912 3036 3127 3120 3199 3331 3356 3245 3231 3263

Extra 
Places 
Needed

-28 -142 -238 -249 -331 -454 -470 -370 -340 -367

Extra 
classes 
Needed

1 5 8 8 11 15 16 12 11 12

Options

Proposal for 2018:
i) Provide an additional 30 places at Siddal more in existing accommodation.

Proposals for 2019 onwards:
ii) Consult on an additional 30 (60 total) places at Siddal Moor by extending school

Proposals for 2020 onwards:
iii) Establish a new 180 place Free school in the Middleton area

Proposals for 2022 onwards:
iv) Establish a new 180 place Free School in the Rochdale area
v) The shortfall in extra spaces will need to be sought through additional building at existing schools. Co-

operation from secondary Academies will be vital to the provision of sufficient school places as options at 
LA maintained schools have been fully utilised.

Total 
extra 
places

30 60 240 240 420 420 420 420 420 420

Deficit (-) 
/ Surplus 
places

2 -82 2 -9 89 -34 -50 50 80 53

Classes 
needed* 3  1 2

Alternatives Considered
The case is clear for the need of 2 extra secondary schools. Given the limited 
options the acceptance of a local trust is considered to be the preferred choice. 
The option is to go out to tender with Multi academy trusts nationwide. Extra 
capacity is definitely needed for 2019 and 2023/24 and will also be needed in the 
intervening years to enable in-year moves. Current spare capacity has been 4-6 
FE across the borough and even with this spare local pressures have still be felt. 

Page 39



Above the extra two schools all secondary schools will need to be approached to 
provide extra capacity. 

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The costs associated with co-ordinating admission arrangements are met from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  

The costs for refurbishment or new build accommodation at schools which are    
providing additional pupil places is funded by the EFA annual allocations of 
Basic Need capital budget.

Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil places to meet the LA’s 
statutory need, may also be eligible for revenue funding from the Growth 
Fund, which is funded via DSG and approved by Schools Forum.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. The application of pupil place planning arrangements contributes to the 
Council Business Plan in ensuring an effective allocation process for school 
admissions.

There are no other known implications from the report .

Consultation

7. The plans outlined here are to be put forward in a consultation due to open 
shortly.

The proposals for the new Free Schools have been discussed within the 
Secondary Place Planning Working Group, the Pioneer Trust and a Meeting 
held for the Primary Heads in Heywood and Middleton.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Not applicable.

For Further Information Contact: Fay Davies – Children’s Services
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 40



Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

APPENDIX 1
BOROUGH PLACE DEMAND 
(projected demand including housing)

PRIMARY - Reception
Reception numbers have continued to grow with more children in school than were born in the borough for the first time in 2016. 
September 2017 numbers in Reception are expected to rise.

Primary Intake for September 2017 had less than 3% surplus capacity but extra Reception classes have been put on at 
Littleborough (+30), Greenbank (+30), Castleton (+15) and Newhey PAN has increased (+10) to 40. Excess capacity is now 3.7% 
for this September.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Surplus Percentage 3.7%  4.2% 4.4%  2.9%
Areas of Concern Pennines Township - North 

(Littleborough)
Rochdale Township - Central

Possible Ways 
Forward

Bulge class at Littleborough 
Primary
Newhey to go to 40 PAN
Bulge classes at Greenbank 
(+30) and Castleton (+15)

Extra classes needed in 
Middleton, Heywood 
Townships and South 
Pennines as detailed in the 
Township summary 
documents.

Extra classes needed in 
Heywood and Rochdale 
Townships as detailed 
in the Township 
summary documents.

Extra classes needed 
in Heywood and 
Rochdale Townships 
as detailed in the 
Township summary 
documents.

PRIMARY – Within year admissions
Pupil numbers within the borough have been affected massively by pupils arriving after the start of the academic year. Of the 162 
additional children arriving in Primary schools last academic year after the October 2016 census, 60 were Reception year and 41 
were year 4 children. 

Page 41



Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

The total primary number on roll at the 2017 July census was 20,712. As of 19th September 2017 there were 21,224 including 
those with offers of places. This is an increase of 512 children in the primary sector starting in Rochdale schools this september. Of 
these 137 extra children have taken up places in year 1 and above. The other 375 extra are the difference between the year 6 
cohort that has just moved up (NOR 2730) and the Reception cohort (NOR 3105) that has just started. The borough currently has 
3264 places available in Reception year. The graph below shows the total applications  to primary and secondary schools that 
have been received in the last 3 months.

The table below shows the status of spaces as of 19th September, by year group. The aim is to have 5% of excess spaces in 
Reception year with at least a surplus of 3% in other year groups. The 3% surplus borough-wide is to enable there to be enough 
places in all townships and enough capacity to enable siblings to be placed together. Currently year 3, year 4 and year 6 all have 
fewer spaces available than desired and there have been problems placing siblings in the same school because of lack of spaces. 
Year 1 and 

BOROUGH Rec Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6
PAN 3264 3207 3107 3062 3075 3100 2941
NOR 3105 3103 3032 3013 3040 3027 2904
SPARE PLACES 169 119 87 69 61 99 66
% SPARE PLACES 5% 4% 3% 2% 2% 3% 2%
OVER CAPACITY* 10 15 12 20 26 26 29

In the transition from Primary to Secondary schools within the borough the 10 year averaged data shows 90% of children attending 
year 6 will attend a year 7 place in borough. In 2015 this was 95% and in 2016 it was 97%. Of the children arriving over the 
summer, 11 pupils arrived to take up a place in year 6. These children will be included in the secondary forecast when the October 
census numbers are collected.

*Over capacity counts are number of children in classrooms that are over their PAN number, not those over statutory 30 pupils per class limit 
(Key stage 1). 

Page 42



Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

SECONDARY
The secondary school cohort has been increasing since 2012/13 and building work to increase the schools capacities has been 
ongoing since 2013/14. The current forecast indicates the borough will have insufficient year 7 places in September 2018.

After 4 years of building extra capacity 7 out of 12 of our secondary schools have had major building works, with Matthew Moss 
Secondary School extension currently in planning stage. This will have increased year 7 capacity by 280 pupils and raised the 
number of available spaces from 2550, in September 2013, to 2830 in 2018. A new Free School is in the planning stage and 
currently due to open 2020. A second new Free School will be needed by 2022. Places needed are still in deficit for 2018 , 2023-
2024.
Current year 7 forecasts and places needed with options for additional places are detailed in the table below. The bottom of the 
table shows places still required.

Borough

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

20
20

-2
1

20
21

-2
2

20
22

-2
3

20
23

-2
4

20
24

-2
5

20
25

-2
6

20
26

-2
7

20
27

-2
8

YEAR 7 Places 2790 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845

Year 7 Expected Pupils 2694 2873 2987 3083 3094 3176 3299 3315 3215 3185 3212
Year 6 Pupils 2730 2912 3036 3127 3120 3199 3331 3356 3245 3231 3263
Extra Places Needed -28 -142 -238 -249 -331 -454 -470 -370 -340 -367
Extra classes Needed 1 5 8 8 11 15 16 12 11 12

Options

Proposal for 2018:
i) Provide an additional 30 places at Siddal Moor in existing accommodation.

Proposals for 2019 onwards:
ii) Consult on an additional 30 (60 total) places at Siddal Moor by extending school

Proposals for 2020 onwards:
iii) Establish a new 180 place Free school in the Middleton area#

Proposals for 2022 onwards:
iv) Establish a new 180 place Free School in the Rochdale area

Total extra places in pipeline to be delivered 30 60 240 240 420 420 420 420 420 420
Deficit (-) / Surplus places 2 -82 2 -9 89 -34 -50 50 80 53
Classes still needed* 3  1 2

*The 2016 consultation process closed with 1 FE gap already identified for 2017 onwards and with the statement “it is … clear that the (new 
Free) school proposed for Middleton should be the priority and ideally should open in 2018 for Year 7 children”. The consultation also noted that 
the Secondary schools have requested an end to the recurring review of places and the ongoing requests for bulge classes or building works. 

Page 43



Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

#The new Free School bid is being submitted by the Rochdale Education Partnership in collaboration with Hopwood Hall College. The bid 
application is near complete and is awaiting the opening of the bidding process by the DfE. The DfE was due to give a date for the opening of 
the new Free School wave, due in September 2017, but has not yet done so. Unofficial news has put the delay in the bid opening to definitely 
after new year and possibly as late as April 2018. The Regional Schools Commissioner has been approached to discuss the repercussions of 
delayed timescales on the significant lack of places in Rochdale due to the delay of the bid and the Schools Team are awaiting their phone call.

Additional Place Options.

Further capacity could be sought at one or more of the following: Siddal Moor, Wardle, Academy, St Cuthberts, or St Annes Academy.

To meet the required extra need as highlighted above several of the schools have already been approached as detailed below. 

Middleton Tech The school is popular and does accept many out of borough pupils. However the double bulge that they accommodated 
by converting the sixth form college is still working its way through (now in year 10) and they are having difficulties with 
circulation space and dining currently.

Wardle An old School building (swimming pool) was under consideration to be converted to extra accommodation previously. 
However it was considered too costly to convert. The school took two bulge years in 2014 and 2015 and have asked to 
reduce these PANs as they are having difficulties with the new school with very poor circulation design. The council has 
advised that the increase in PAN was agreed for these years and the spaces are needed.

Siddal Moor The school has been approached and felt that for 2018 they could take an extra cohort in space already available. The 
school will now be consulted to expand by 2FE for 2019.

 
Schools approached in previous 2016 consultation:

Falinge Park 
and Kingsway 
Park

These schools are currently in the building process, are due to take extra cohorts this 
September (2017) before the work is complete.

Under expansion

Hollingworth Hollingworth had building work and took an extra FE in 2015/16 so the extra children are 
only currently in year 7 and 8.

Previously expanded

Matthew Moss The redesign of the extra building is underway to increase the extra capacity and is due to 
be in place by September 2018.

Expansion plans underway 
for 2018

Holy Family 
and Cardinal 
Langley

The schools have had extension or builds and increased their PANS in September 2016, so 
have just started with their extra year groups. In the 2016 consultation Cardinal Langley 
noted they did not want a further expansion but did take extra (+15) children.

Previously expanded

St Cuthberts The school was consulted and agreed to discuss increasing the PAN but plans didn’t go 
forward. The school will be approached again.

Previously decided against

St Annes 
Academy

The school in the process of being approached but was consulted previously in 2016. Previously decided against

Oulder Hill The school is already significantly larger that other schools in the borough and was a PFI 
build which has cost implications to any build.

Not approached

To note: The secondary schools across the borough have current spare capacity of 40 FE if all year groups are combined. The spare FE by 
year group are shown in the table below. It has been difficult for the Secondary Schools to appreciate the need for extra capacity when there are 
so many surplus places in the higher year groups.

Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11
Spare capacity (Number of classes) 4 5 9 11 11

Page 44



Heywood and Middleton Need for Extra Secondary Places 2018-2027

APPENDIX 2 
HEYWOOD and MIDDLETON TOWNSHIPS
Year 7 Secondary School Places 2017 - 2027

18th Sept 2017

6% more children attend Secondaries than Primaries in the Heywood and Middleton region with more pupils commuting into 
the area. Currently forecasts suggest a deficit of places for next September (2018) with this demand rising until 2023/24. New A 
Free School will be needed by 2020.

Heywood and Middleton

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

20
20

-2
1

20
21

-2
2

20
22

-2
3

20
23

-2
4

20
24

-2
5

20
25

-2
6

20
26

-2
7

20
27

-2
8

YEAR 7 Places 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015 1015
Year 7 Expected Pupils 1011 1058 1087 1124 1209 1278 1290 1259 1285 1231 1267
Year 6 Pupils 940 983 1015 1046 1120 1187 1200 1171 1194 1152 1188
Extra Places Needed -43 -72 -109 -194 -263 -275 -244 -270 -216 -252

Options

Proposal for 2018:
i) Provide an additional 30 places at Siddal more in existing accommodation.

Proposals for 2019 onwards:
ii) Consult on an additional 30 (60 total) places at Siddal Moor by extending school
iii) Establish a new 180 place Free school in the Middleton area by 2020.

There are five secondary schools in Heywood and Middleton Townships. Already an extra 30 places have are to be 
available at each of Cardinal Langley RC and Holy Family RC CE College and an extra 10 places at St Anne’s Academy 
for 2017. The places available in 2018 will be:
Siddal Moor 210 Middleton Technology 270 St.Anne’s CE Academy 160
Holy Family RC  CE College 150 Cardinal Langley RC 210 

(225)
 

Page 45



Pennine and Rochdale Need for Extra Secondary Places 2018-2027

APPENDIX 3 
ROCHDALE AND PENNINES TOWNSHIPS
Year 7 Secondary School Places 2017 - 2027

18h Sept 2017

8% more children attend Primaries than Secondaries in the Rochdale and Pennines region with more  pupils commuting out of 
the area. Currently forecasts suggest a deficit of places for September 2019 with this demand peaking in 2021 and then 2024. 
New A Free School will be needed by 2022, but extra capacity is needed for 2019.

Pennines and Rochdale 20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

20
20

-2
1

20
21

-2
2

20
22

-2
3

20
23

-2
4

20
24

-2
5

20
25

-2
6

20
26

-2
7

20
27

-2
8

YEAR 7 Places 1775 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830 1830
Year 7 Expected Pupils 1683 1814 1901 1959 1885 1898 2009 2057 1929 1953 1945
Year 6 Pupils 1790 1929 2021 2081 2000 2012 2131 2185 2051 2080 2075
Extra Places Needed -71 -129 -55 -68 -179 -227 -99 -123 -115

Options
Proposals for 2019 onwards:

i) Establish a new 180 place Free school in the Rochdale area by 2022

There are seven secondary schools in Pennines and Rochdale Townships. Already an extra 30 
places are available at Kingsway Park and Falinge Park from 2017. The places available in 2018 
are:
Hollingworth 270 Kingsway Park 270 Oulder Hill 300
Wardle 240 Falinge Park 270 Matthew Moss 240

St. Cuthbert’s RC 240

Page 46



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 24th October 2017
Portfolio Councillor Donna Martin

Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Services

Report Author Fay Davies
Public/Private Document Public

The Need for Extra Primary School Places (2017- 2020)

Executive Summary

1. There is a need to keep under review the need for extra class places in each 
Township. The purpose of this report is to set out proposals to address the 
need for extra Reception and Year 1-6 places up to September 2020.

Recommendation

2. That Cabinet approves the opening of a consultation on proposals to address 
the need for extra Reception and Year 1-6 places up to September 2020.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Each Local authority has a statutory duty to secure a sufficient number of 
school places in their area.  

Key Points for Consideration

4. The Borough has seen consistent growth in the Primary school cohorts. In 
2005 Reception numbers were 2450 and this year are predicted to be over 
3100. This is the equivalent of 19 additional Reception classes. Growth in 
cohort numbers has not been limited to Reception numbers but has occurred 
in all year groups with many families being new to the Borough. The 
equivalent of 5 additional classes of children has arrived in higher year groups 
to start schools this September. Full details are set out in Appendix One.

4.1 Historically pupil place planning has been carried out for each township in 
Rochdale. This allows townships to be informed on school spaces and pupil 
numbers within their area and aids local government decision making 
processes. 

The following tables give a summary of available Reception year spaces and 
plans have been put in place to suggest ways forward where needed.

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



4.1.1 Heywood Township: Heywood saw a peak in its birth rate that caused 
large cohorts in 2015/16.  However although the birth rate has since fallen, 
numbers in Reception cohorts continued to rise in 2016/17. Current 
predictions show birth rates increasing in the area causing a possible shortage 
of spaces in 2019/20. Full details for Heywood are set out in Appendix Two.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places 
Needed

20 spare  21 spare 1 spare  11 places 
needed

Plans were St Lukes extra 30 (2015 – 
2017)
St Josephs expanded 
(PAN 45 to 60)

Woodland expanding 
(PAN 60 to 90)

Possible Ways 
Forward

Consult on St Lukes 
moving permanently PAN 
30 to 60

4.1.2 Middleton Township: Middleton has seen significant growth in 
Reception year pupil numbers over previous years and extra capacity building 
is still in progress. Current capacity is forecasted to be sufficient until 2020/21 
but spare capacity is too low in 2018/19 to manage and bulge class is needed. 
Full details for Middleton are set out in Appendix Three. 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places 
Needed

57 spare  13 spare 76 spare  56 spare

Plans were Boarshaw extra 30
Bowlee expanded (PAN 
90 to 120) in 2016

Boarshaw expanding 
(PAN 30 to 60)

Possible Ways 
Forward

n/a Consult on Little Heaton 
(+30) bulge year

n/a n/a

4.1.3 Pennines Township: Pennines saw a peak in its birth rate that caused 
large cohorts in 2016/17. Although the birth rate has since fallen, numbers in 
Reception cohorts will continue to rise in 2017/18 before reducing. Current 
capacity is forecasted to be sufficient until 2020/21. The split between south 
and north Pennines regions shows limited spare capacity in south Pennines 
from 2018-2020. Full details for Pennines are set out in Appendix Four. 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places 
Needed

35 spare  53 spare 55 spare  49 spare

Plans were Moorhouse extra 30 for 
2017/18
Newhey extra 10 
permanently (PAN 30 to 
40)
Littleborough extra 30 for 1 
years (2017-2020)

Littleborough extra 15 
for 2 more years (2018-
2020)

Possible Ways 
Forward

n/a South Pennines: Consult 
on Moorhouse (+15) 
bulgewith PAN to 45 for 
3 years

n/a n/a

4.1.4 Rochdale Township: Rochdale township has had a rise in the number 

Page 48



of births of 90 within a two year period that sees a predicted 2017/18 cohort 
peak at 1462 pupils before dropping again to 1385 in 2018/19. Plans were put 
in place to enlarge two schools permanently, but this is still insufficient. From 
2019 extra capacity is needed in Rochdale Township. Full details for Rochdale 
are set out in Appendix Five.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places 
Needed

57spare  44 spare 7 spare  5 spaces 
needed

Plans were Sandbrook enlarged Permanently 
(PAN 60 to 90) from 2016
Whittaker Moss enlarged Perm- 
anently (PAN 45 to 60) from 2017

Possible Ways 
Forward

Bulge classes created at 
Greenbank (+30), Castleton (+15)

n/a Consult on Belfield 
moving to permanent 
PAN of 60 (+15) and 
Lowerplace moving to 
3FE (90 PAN)

4.2 Traditionally places have been created in Reception and capacity has 
been adequate for all year groups through the primary years We now find in- 
year transfers are so high that in some 1-6 year groups that there is no spare 
capacity and extra capacity, particularly in higher year groups is needed. 
Appendix 1 shows details of how many in-year admissions we have had over 
the last year with a breakdown of where the children have come from for the 
last 3 months. We currently have over-PAN classes in all year groups but 
there has been significant extra pressure in the current year 4 and 6 cohorts. 
Extra classes have been created in the central Rochdale Township for year 4 
at two schools. For the year 6 children moving into the borough a decision has 
been made to exceed the PAN where and when needed. This is not favoured 
by primary Headteachers 

4.2.1 The following table shows the current spaces by Township and 
highlights the Townships where extra classes are being requested.

Spaces Available (Sept 2017)

Rec Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6
Heywood 20 5 14 4 14 3 20
Middleton 57 55 2 7 6 39 12

Pennines (South) 18 29 27 2 2 8 10

Pennines (North) 17 4 2 2 3 8 14
Rochdale (NE)
&Pennine (Central) 35 10 25 38 3 26 0

Rochdale (NW) 9 2 1 6 8 4 8
Rochdale S
South/Central 13 14 16 10 10 11 2

Total 169 119 87 69 46 99 66

Percentage 5% 4% 3% 2% 2% 3% 2%

Page 49



4.2.2 The following table shows the current number of children in classes that 
are over PAN.

Over PAN Capacity (Sept 2017)

Rec Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 No. of Schools in area
Heywood 2 2 1 2 3 2 0 10

Middleton 0 6 2 2 5 6 2 14

Pennines (South) 3 0 2 4 3 3 3 7

Pennines (North) 3 0 2 2 3 2 4 5
Rochdale (NE)
&Pennine (Central) 2 0 0 4 6 3 11 9

Rochdale (NW) 0 2 1 2 1 2 1 7
Rochdale S
South/central 0 5 4 4 5 8 8 17

Total 10 15 12 20 26 26 29 69

Alternatives Considered

In the last few years 24 of the 69 Primary Schools have taken bulge years or 
increased their PAN. The majority of these have had either internal 
restructuring or major building carried out. All extra classes are being 
discussed with Head teachers and Governing boards.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The costs associated with co-ordinating admission arrangements are met from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant.  

  The costs for refurbishment or new build accommodation at schools which 
are    providing additional pupil places is funded by the EFA annual allocations 
of Basic Need capital budget.

Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil places to meet the LA’s 
statutory need, may also be eligible for revenue funding from the  Council’s 
Growth Fund, which is approved by Schools Forum

Risk and Policy Implications

The application of pupil place planning arrangements contributes to the 
Council Business Plan in ensuring an effective allocation process for school 
admissions.

There are no other known implications from this particular report  ie 
Personnel, Equalities or Financial.

6.

Consultation

Page 50



7. The plans outlined here are to be put forward in a consultation due to open 
shortly.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Not applicable

For Further Information Contact: Fay Davies, Children’s Services
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 51

mailto:fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk


Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

APPENDIX 1
BOROUGH PLACE DEMAND 
(projected demand including housing)

PRIMARY - Reception
Reception numbers have continued to grow with more children in school than were born in the borough for the first time in 2016. 
September 2017 numbers in Reception are expected to rise.

Primary Intake for September 2017 had less than 3% surplus capacity but extra Reception classes have been put on at 
Littleborough (+30), Greenbank (+30), Castleton (+15) and Newhey PAN has increased (+10) to 40. Excess capacity is now 3.7% 
for this September.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Surplus Percentage 3.7%  4.2% 4.4%  2.9%
Areas of Concern Pennines Township - North 

(Littleborough)
Rochdale Township - Central

Possible Ways 
Forward

Bulge class at Littleborough 
Primary
Newhey to go to 40 PAN
Bulge classes at Greenbank 
(+30) and Castleton (+15)

Extra classes needed in 
Middleton, Heywood 
Townships and South 
Pennines as detailed in the 
Township summary 
documents.

Extra classes needed in 
Heywood and Rochdale 
Townships as detailed 
in the Township 
summary documents.

Extra classes needed 
in Heywood and 
Rochdale Townships 
as detailed in the 
Township summary 
documents.

PRIMARY – Within year admissions
Pupil numbers within the borough have been affected massively by pupils arriving after the start of the academic year. Of the 162 
additional children arriving in Primary schools last academic year after the October 2016 census, 60 were Reception year and 41 
were year 4 children. 

Page 52



Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

The total primary number on roll at the 2017 July census was 20,712. As of 19th September 2017 there were 21,224 including 
those with offers of places. This is an increase of 512 children in the primary sector starting in Rochdale schools this september. Of 
these 137 extra children have taken up places in year 1 and above. The other 375 extra are the difference between the year 6 
cohort that has just moved up (NOR 2730) and the Reception cohort (NOR 3105) that has just started. The borough currently has 
3264 places available in Reception year. The graph below shows the total applications  to primary and secondary schools that 
have been received in the last 3 months.

The table below shows the status of spaces as of 19th September, by year group. The aim is to have 5% of excess spaces in 
Reception year with at least a surplus of 3% in other year groups. The 3% surplus borough-wide is to enable there to be enough 
places in all townships and enough capacity to enable siblings to be placed together. Currently year 3, year 4 and year 6 all have 
fewer spaces available than desired and there have been problems placing siblings in the same school because of lack of spaces. 
Year 1 and 

BOROUGH Rec Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6
PAN 3264 3207 3107 3062 3075 3100 2941
NOR 3105 3103 3032 3013 3040 3027 2904
SPARE PLACES 169 119 87 69 61 99 66
% SPARE PLACES 5% 4% 3% 2% 2% 3% 2%
OVER CAPACITY* 10 15 12 20 26 26 29

In the transition from Primary to Secondary schools within the borough the 10 year averaged data shows 90% of children attending 
year 6 will attend a year 7 place in borough. In 2015 this was 95% and in 2016 it was 97%. Of the children arriving over the 
summer, 11 pupils arrived to take up a place in year 6. These children will be included in the secondary forecast when the October 
census numbers are collected.

*Over capacity counts are number of children in classrooms that are over their PAN number, not those over statutory 30 pupils per class limit 
(Key stage 1). 

Page 53



Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

SECONDARY
The secondary school cohort has been increasing since 2012/13 and building work to increase the schools capacities has been 
ongoing since 2013/14. The current forecast indicates the borough will have insufficient year 7 places in September 2018.

After 4 years of building extra capacity 7 out of 12 of our secondary schools have had major building works, with Matthew Moss 
Secondary School extension currently in planning stage. This will have increased year 7 capacity by 280 pupils and raised the 
number of available spaces from 2550, in September 2013, to 2830 in 2018. A new Free School is in the planning stage and 
currently due to open 2020. A second new Free School will be needed by 2022. Places needed are still in deficit for 2018 , 2023-
2024.
Current year 7 forecasts and places needed with options for additional places are detailed in the table below. The bottom of the 
table shows places still required.

Borough

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

20
20

-2
1

20
21

-2
2

20
22

-2
3

20
23

-2
4

20
24

-2
5

20
25

-2
6

20
26

-2
7

20
27

-2
8

YEAR 7 Places 2790 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845 2845

Year 7 Expected Pupils 2694 2873 2987 3083 3094 3176 3299 3315 3215 3185 3212
Year 6 Pupils 2730 2912 3036 3127 3120 3199 3331 3356 3245 3231 3263
Extra Places Needed -28 -142 -238 -249 -331 -454 -470 -370 -340 -367
Extra classes Needed 1 5 8 8 11 15 16 12 11 12

Options

Proposal for 2018:
i) Provide an additional 30 places at Siddal Moor in existing accommodation.

Proposals for 2019 onwards:
ii) Consult on an additional 30 (60 total) places at Siddal Moor by extending school

Proposals for 2020 onwards:
iii) Establish a new 180 place Free school in the Middleton area#

Proposals for 2022 onwards:
iv) Establish a new 180 place Free School in the Rochdale area

Total extra places in pipeline to be delivered 30 60 240 240 420 420 420 420 420 420
Deficit (-) / Surplus places 2 -82 2 -9 89 -34 -50 50 80 53
Classes still needed* 3  1 2

*The 2016 consultation process closed with 1 FE gap already identified for 2017 onwards and with the statement “it is … clear that the (new 
Free) school proposed for Middleton should be the priority and ideally should open in 2018 for Year 7 children”. The consultation also noted that 
the Secondary schools have requested an end to the recurring review of places and the ongoing requests for bulge classes or building works. 

Page 54



Borough Place Demand 18thSeptember2017.docx

#The new Free School bid is being submitted by the Rochdale Education Partnership in collaboration with Hopwood Hall College. The bid 
application is near complete and is awaiting the opening of the bidding process by the DfE. The DfE was due to give a date for the opening of 
the new Free School wave, due in September 2017, but has not yet done so. Unofficial news has put the delay in the bid opening to definitely 
after new year and possibly as late as April 2018. The Regional Schools Commissioner has been approached to discuss the repercussions of 
delayed timescales on the significant lack of places in Rochdale due to the delay of the bid and the Schools Team are awaiting their phone call.

Additional Place Options.

Further capacity could be sought at one or more of the following: Siddal Moor, Wardle, Academy, St Cuthberts, or St Annes Academy.

To meet the required extra need as highlighted above several of the schools have already been approached as detailed below. 

Middleton Tech The school is popular and does accept many out of borough pupils. However the double bulge that they accommodated 
by converting the sixth form college is still working its way through (now in year 10) and they are having difficulties with 
circulation space and dining currently.

Wardle An old School building (swimming pool) was under consideration to be converted to extra accommodation previously. 
However it was considered too costly to convert. The school took two bulge years in 2014 and 2015 and have asked to 
reduce these PANs as they are having difficulties with the new school with very poor circulation design. The council has 
advised that the increase in PAN was agreed for these years and the spaces are needed.

Siddal Moor The school has been approached and felt that for 2018 they could take an extra cohort in space already available. The 
school will now be consulted to expand by 2FE for 2019.

 
Schools approached in previous 2016 consultation:

Falinge Park 
and Kingsway 
Park

These schools are currently in the building process, are due to take extra cohorts this 
September (2017) before the work is complete.

Under expansion

Hollingworth Hollingworth had building work and took an extra FE in 2015/16 so the extra children are 
only currently in year 7 and 8.

Previously expanded

Matthew Moss The redesign of the extra building is underway to increase the extra capacity and is due to 
be in place by September 2018.

Expansion plans underway 
for 2018

Holy Family 
and Cardinal 
Langley

The schools have had extension or builds and increased their PANS in September 2016, so 
have just started with their extra year groups. In the 2016 consultation Cardinal Langley 
noted they did not want a further expansion but did take extra (+15) children.

Previously expanded

St Cuthberts The school was consulted and agreed to discuss increasing the PAN but plans didn’t go 
forward. The school will be approached again.

Previously decided against

St Annes 
Academy

The school in the process of being approached but was consulted previously in 2016. Previously decided against

Oulder Hill The school is already significantly larger that other schools in the borough and was a PFI 
build which has cost implications to any build.

Not approached

To note: The secondary schools across the borough have current spare capacity of 40 FE if all year groups are combined. The spare FE by 
year group are shown in the table below. It has been difficult for the Secondary Schools to appreciate the need for extra capacity when there are 
so many surplus places in the higher year groups.

Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11
Spare capacity (Number of classes) 4 5 9 11 11

Page 55



Heywood Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docx

APPENDIX 2
HEYWOOD TOWNSHIP
RECEPTION CLASS PLACE DEMAND to September 2020 (projected demand including housing)

Heywood saw a peak in the birth rate for children entering Reception in 2015. The Number on Roll entering Reception year both in 
2016 and 2017 have been above the birth rate. Spare places are currently only available at Harwood Park. The birth rate is due to 
rise in 2019 with a deficit of places going forward.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places Needed 20 spare  21 spare 1 spare  11 places needed
Plans were St Lukes extra 30 (2015 – 2017)

St Josephs expanded (PAN 45 to 
60)

Woodland expanding (PAN 60 
to 90)

Possible Ways 
Forward

Consult on St Lukes moving 
permanently PAN 30 to 60.

Planned Admission Number (PAN) capacity for Heywood schools as at September 2017 is:
School PAN School PAN School PAN School PAN
Heap Bridge 25 Harwood Park 60
Our Lady&St Paul'sRC 30 St Luke's CE VC 60
St Margaret's CE VA 30 All Souls CE VC 30
Woodland  60 Hopwood 60
St Joseph's RC 60 St Michael's CE VA 30

Page 56



Middleton Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docx

APPENDIX 3
MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP
RECEPTION CLASS PLACE DEMAND to September 2020 (projected demand including housing)

Currently births in the Middleton Township are on a slight downward trend. However house building is growing in the area with 
increasing number of builds due to come forward from 2021/22. Current forecast suggest extra places will be needed in 2018 for 1 
year only.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places Needed 57 spare  13 spare 76 spare  56 spare
Plans were Boarshaw extra 30

Bowlee expanded (PAN 90 to 120) 
in 2016

Boarshaw expanding (PAN 30 
to 60)

Possible Ways 
Forward

n/a Consult on Little Heaton (+30) 
bulge year

n/a n/a

Planned Admission Number (PAN) capacity for Middleton schools as at September 2017 is:
School PAN School PAN School PAN School PAN
St John Fisher RC 30 Elm Wood 60
Hollin  30 Little Heaton CE VC 30
Boarshaw  60 St Gabriel's CE VC 30
Bowlee Park 120 St Peter's RC 30
St Mary's RC  60 Alkrington 60
Middleton Parish CE 
VA

60 St Thomas More RC 45
Parkfield 30 St Michael's CE VA 30

Page 57



Middleton Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docxPage 58



Pennines Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docx

APPENDIX 4
PENNINES TOWNSHIP
RECEPTION CLASS PLACE DEMAND to September 2020 (projected demand including housing)

Pennines Township has seen a bulge in demand for this September (2017) with extra places being created at Littleborough 
Community Primary. The forecast is for demand for places to stay above the birth rate and the extra housing build plans for the 
area will increase this. However currently places in the north of the Pennines are sufficient, with places also being above 
forecasted demand in the South of the area.

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places Needed 35 spare  53 spare 55 spare  49 spare
Plans were Moorhouse extra 30 for 2017/18

Newhey extra 10 permanently 
(PAN 30 to 40)
Littleborough extra 30 (extra 15 for 
2018 -19)

Littleborough extra 15 (extra 15 
for 2018 -19)

Littleborough 
extra 15 (extra 15 
for 2018 -19)

n/a

Possible Ways 
Forward

n/a South Pennines: Consult on 
Moorhouse (+15) bulge with 
PAN to 45 for 2 years

n/a

Planned Admission Number (PAN) capacity for Pennines schools as at September 2017 is:
School PAN School PAN School PAN School PAN
Moorhouse 60 Stansfield Hall CE VC 20 Hamer   45
Crossgates 45 Littleborough 75 Kentmere 45
Milnrow Parish CE 
VA

30 Holy Trinity CE VA 30 Alice Ingham RC 24

Page 59



Pennines Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docx

Newhey 40 St Mary's RC 30
St Thomas' CE VA 21 St James' CE  F 30

St Andrew'sCE VC 60
Smithy Bridge 60

Pennines Forecast for North and South areas.

Pennines North Forecast:-

Pennines South Forecast:-

Page 60



Rochdale Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docx

APPENDIX 5
ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP
RECEPTION CLASS PLACE DEMAND to September 2020 (projected demand including housing)

Historically the numbers of children going into Reception classes within the Rochdale Township have not followed the local birth 
profile closely. In 2012/13 the number of births was over 1500 while the numbers in the Reception intake were 1370. It is believed 
that while previously growing families were more likely to move out of area when their children became school age, the current 
cohorts are staying put. All current Reception applicants for September 2017 have been offered a place within their locality, as 
extra capacity was provided at Greenbank (+30) and Castleton (+15) to meet the bulge in numbers. 

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
Extra Places Needed 57 spare  44 

spare
7 spare  5 spaces 

needed
Plans were Sandbrook enlarged Permanently (PAN 60 to 90) 

from 2016
Whittaker Moss enlarged Perm- anently (PAN 45 
to 60) from 2017
Bulge classes at Greenbank (+30), Castleton 
(+15)

Possible Ways Forward n/a n/a Consult on Belfield moving to 
permanent PAN of 60 (+15)
Consult on Lowerplace 
moving to 3FE

Planned Admission Number (PAN) capacity for Rochdale schools as at September 2017 is:
School PAN School PAN School PAN School PAN
Healey F 30 Meanwood 60 Belfield 45 St Peter's CE VC 60

Page 61



Rochdale Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docx

Shawclough 60 Norden 60 Holy Family RC 30 St Mary's CE VC 30
All Saints CE VA 30 Spotland 60 Sandbrook 90 St John's RC 30
Greenbank 60 Caldershaw 30 Brimrod 30 Sacred Heart RC 30
St Patrick's RC 45 Whittaker Moss 60 Broadfield 60 Castleton 30
Heybrook 90 St Vincent's RC 60 Deeplish 

Academy
60 St Edward's CE VC 52

Ashfield Valley 30 Bamford Academy 45 Lowerplace 60 St John'sCE VA 
T'ham

12
Marland Hill 60 St Gabriel's RC 30

Rochdale forecast by regions.

Rochdale NW Reception Forecast:-

Rochdale NE Reception Forecast:-

Rochdale South/Central Reception Forecast:-

Page 62



Rochdale Reception Class Place Demand to Sept2020 6thJune2017.docxPage 63



Report to Cabinet 

Date of Meeting 24th October 2017
Portfolio Councillor Allen Brett

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate and Resources

Report Author Louise Griffiths
Public/Private Document Public

Proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria Policy

Executive Summary

1. The report provides Members of Cabinet with details of the Council`s 
proposed Local Positive Recruitment Policy, which is an amendment to the 
Council`s Recruitment and Selection Policy, for consideration and approval.

Recommendation

2. That the Rochdale Residency Criteria Statement (detailed in appendix 1) 
be applied to entry posts i.e. lower graded jobs at Grades 1 to 3.

Reason for Recommendation

3. To provide Cabinet with details of the Council’s proposed Local Positive 
Recruitment Policy for consideration and approval.

Key Points for Consideration

4. The Council`s Corporate Plan for 2016 – 2019 includes a commitment to 
improving the lives of local people. This is embraced in the three priorities of 
People, Place and Prosperity. The Council`s vision is to build the prosperity of 
the Borough and the people who live here. 

Employment is the best route out of poverty, enabling independence, creating 
wealth and increasing aspirations.  As part of a strategy to promote the 
Borough’s image and reputation the Council wants to enable more residents to 
access local employment opportunities in the Borough. 
 
The Local Positive Recruitment Policy which is now being proposed will 
ensure that the Council is at the heart of leading the promotion of local 
employment in the Borough.

It is proposed that the Rochdale Residency Criteria (detailed in appendix 1) be 
applied to entry level posts to the Local Authority i.e. jobs at Grades 1 to 3. It 

Page 64

Agenda Item 9



is also suggested that the operation of the Policy be reviewed in 6 months to 
assess how successful it has been and to consider whether any additional 
actions are needed to further support the delivery of this policy objective. 

It is also suggested that the Council consider the most appropriate means of 
promoting the Policy. Applying for a job at the Council should be as simple 
and clear as possible, including maximising the available local advertising 
media. We recognise that the Council’s procedures for applying for jobs at the 
Council can be daunting for those who are not used to working in the public 
sector or who may have been out of the jobs market for some time. The 
Council will work in partnership with Employment Links to promote the policy 
and provide support to potential applicants who are currently unemployed in 
terms of the recruitment process.   

We will involve agencies such as Jobcentre Plus and other organisations 
already engaged with job seekers to inform people about the Council’s Policy. 
In addition, as part of the Council’s strategy of investment in local businesses, 
it is intended that the roles will be advertised in local media. It is also 
suggested that these vacancies are publicised in local libraries, community 
centres, schools and local retail outlets. 

We will also utilise the Council’s existing links with the Stronger Families 
project , the Working Well project, the Place Based project and partner 
agencies such as Housing Associations including RBH, Riverside, Regenda, 
the Lighthouse Project, Groundwork, Petrus, etc.
  
Any change to the current Policy would also need to be considered in the 
context of the Government’s agenda around apprentices and the Council`s 
desire to attract high quality candidates in a competitive Greater Manchester 
labour market. 

With regard to schools, as the Council is not the Employer for all staff in 
schools and the fact that recruitment decisions lie with the 
Headteacher/Governing Board it is therefore suggested that we seek to 
influence decisions by encouraging schools to adopt a similar policy. 

This Policy will enable the Council to ensure that the composition of the 
workforce is representative of the community.  In particular the Council will 
focus on those protected characteristic group where there is under-
representation. The Council will continue to maintain its commitment to 
disabled applicants and people from the armed forces. 

Finally, it is noted that the Council’s current Recruitment and Selection Policy 
was last reviewed in 2006. We will be reviewing it this year notwithstanding 
this report to ensure we capture best practice and ensure that the Policy 
meets the needs of the Council as both a business and employer of choice.

Alternatives Considered

The Council could decide not to implement the policy however this would 
potentially impact on its ability to meet its commitment to improve the 

Page 65



prosperity of the residents of the Borough. 

Costs and Budget Summary

5. There are financial implications arising from the implementation of this Policy 
are expected such as: 

 Holding and Hosting Recruitment/Skills Events;
 Reduction in potential income from Greater Manchester Jobs and 

increase in advertising costs from the use of local media;
these will be assessed more fully and discussed with the Portfolio Holder. A 
further report may need to come to Cabinet if the costs are more than material 
although we will aim to manage them through approved budgets.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. The Council needs to ensure that the Policy does not either directly or 
indirectly discriminate against any group where a protected characteristic is 
defined in equalities legislation; therefore the Council has undertaken an 
Equalities impact Assessment and sought legal advice in order to identify 
any risks and potential strategies to mitigate.
 
The legal advice indicates that the local positive recruitment criteria policy is 
not directly discriminatory nor does it obviously contradict any employment 
law provisions.  However the Council should monitor the application of the 
policy to ensure that it does not have a disproportionate impact on a group 
with a protected characteristic  (age, sex, disability, race, religion, sexual 
orientation). .  

The Provision, Criteria or Practice (“PCP”) is measured by reference to the 
equality impact assessment and whether or not the statistics demonstrate 
disproportionate impact.

From a comparison perspective the appropriate pools would be Rochdale 
residents (group benefits) as against non-Rochdale residents (disadvantaged 
group). Also, it is advised that the application of the policy is monitored to 
ensure that particular protected groups are not disadvantaged and the use of 
monitoring forms is advised.

In any event, we are advised that a PCP is capable of being objectively 
justified i.e. a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim so we would 
in all likelihood be able to satisfy the “legitimate aim” requirement. Also 
provided it could be shown that the policy was necessary and there are not 
obviously alternatives that would have a less discriminatory impact then the 
proportionality requirement would also be met.

The Equality Impact Assessment (Attached as Appendix 2) provides details 
of the boroughs communities (based on the 2010 census) and the 
composition of the Councils workforce. The Council would need to monitor 
the impact of the policy on a regular basis in order to ensure that it does not 
result in any direct or indirect discrimination, based on applying the criteria. It 

Page 66



is also vital that the Council meets its legal obligations to employees who are 
at risk of redundancy; only if there are no “at risk” candidates can vacancies 
be advertised both internally and externally.

Consultation

7. The Council`s proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria Policy has been 
subject to formal consultation with Trade Unions (Letter from Trade Unions 
dated 22nd September 2017 attached as Appendix 3). The Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny will be consulted at the meeting of the Committee on 
17th October 2017.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Councils current Recruitment and 
Selection Policy and Procedure.

HR Service, Floor 2, Number One 
Riverside, Rochdale.

For Further Information Contact: Louise Griffiths, Tel: 01706926250, 
louise.griffiths@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 67



Appendix 1

Rochdale Residency Criteria 

Jobs at Grades 1-3 only open to applicants who are permanently resident in the 
Borough of Rochdale. The residency requirement only applies to these jobs; anyone 
can apply for all other Council jobs. If a particular job proves hard to fill, however, 
despite careful local marketing, then it may be re-advertised without the residency 
requirement. 

The Council has this policy because the rate of unemployment amongst Rochdale 
residents is high we also know that there are many people in the Borough with the 
skills needed for these jobs. The Council takes its responsibilities to the communities 
of the Borough very seriously and is working hard to help ensure the people it 
serves, particularly the most disadvantaged, are benefiting from employment 
opportunities in the Borough and this policy is one aspect of the action being taken. 

A Rochdale resident is someone who lives within the municipal boundaries of the 
Borough of Rochdale. That is someone whose Local Authority is Rochdale Borough 
Council. Post codes can be very misleading. The easiest test (if you are not familiar 
with the geographical boundaries) is that if your household pays Council Tax to 
Rochdale Borough Council, then you are a resident within the boundaries of the 
Borough of Rochdale If your household pays Council Tax to any other neighbouring 
Authority, then you are not a resident within the municipal boundaries of the Borough 
of Rochdale.
 

Page 68



Appendix 2

EIA - Proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria Policy

1. What is the name of the proposal and its current status?  

The Equality Impact Assessment assesses the proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria 
Policy, which is for the purposes of formal consultations with Trade Unions.

2. Which Service is responsible for this proposal?
This proposal is to be presented to Members of the Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
and Cabinet by the Head of Workforce & OD.
3. Does this proposal impact on other services or other service savings proposals and if 
so, have you discussed this proposal with the Service Directors from those other 
services?
This proposal will impact on all Grade 1 – 3 posts across the organisation (excluding schools), 
the proposal has been subject to consideration by the Leadership Team.
4.Please state the name of the officer leading the EIA 
Louise Griffiths, Senior HR Consultant
5. Who has been involved in undertaking this assessment e.g. list the stakeholder 
groups which have been involved? 
The proposal including the EIA will be subject to consultation with Trade Unions
6. What is the scope of this assessment?

 what is included in this assessment
 does this proposal link to any other proposals (i.e. previous or current).  If so, 

please state
The assessment will be confined to the Council`s Grade 1 – 3 posts.  

The issues being considered are:
 If applying this proposal to those posts in scope of the revision to the Councils 

Recruitment and Selection Policy would potentially be discriminatory under the 
protections arising from the Equality Act 2010.  

 If the proposal has a discriminatory effect, to what extent this would be.
 If the proposal can be justified.

This proposal links to the Councils commitment to improve the lives of local people. This is 
embraced in the three priorities of People, Place and Prosperity. The Council`s vision is to 
build the prosperity of the Borough and the people who live here. 
7 a).What does the function currently do?  
   b).Describe the needs which this service meets?
The proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria Policy will result in a revision to the Council`s 
Recruitment and Selection Procedure and aims to increase the number of employees at lower 
grades who are Rochdale residents.  
8. What proposed changes do you wish to make?
The proposal is seeking Member approval to commence formal consultations with Trade 
Unions on the proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria Policy. A further report will be 
submitted to Members outlining the outcome of consultations and detailing the implementation 
timescale and arrangements.
9. Who are the key stakeholders who may be affected by the proposed changes?
Residents of the Borough.

Page 69



10. What impact will this proposal have on all the protected groups

An initial equality impact assessment has been undertaken on the proposals as they affect employees 
in scope of the review.  The assessment does not identify any significant equalities issues in relation to 
the proposal or its implementation. 

Detailed in the table below is the spread of people from protected characteristic groups in both the 
current posts graded 1 – 3 and the borough as a whole (based upon the 2011 census).  

A summary of the issues identified is outlined below;

Gender
The EIA identifies that there is a much higher proportion of men in the Borough than those employed 
by the Council.  This could be possibly due to the fact that posts generally at Grade  1-3 have 
predominately attracted and been filled by female applicants in the past. As part of this policy, the 
Council will look at encouraging and promoting vacancies to male applications by using positive 
measures to achieve more diversity in its workforce.  

Age
The Council recognises that it has an aging workforce, and therefore it is important to have strategies 
in place to promote and encourage young adults into a working career at the Council, whilst also 
retaining and encouraging older people in the Borough to remain in work. The Council aims with this 
policy to advertise apprenticeships more widely to young adults to enable them to secure a career 
working for the Council. The EIA identifies that there are a lot more residents in the Borough at 65+ 
than those working for the Council, and although the Council will work closely with other agencies to 
advertise and promote roles to older people, it must be acknowledged that many people at that age 
have chosen to end their working career and no longer wish to work.

Ethnicity
The EIA shows that there is more of a proportionate mix of ethnic minority staff within Schools (15.2%) 
than those working direct for the Council (9.9%).  This may be partly due to the fact that Schools 
advertise many of their vacancies at the School where parents/members of the community are able to 
view and apply for roles.  Therefore, the Council aims to apply a similar approach by working closer 
with communities and Council staff who work with communities, to advertise and promote vacancies.

Disabled
The Council promotes and encourages staff with a disability to apply to apply for its vacancies.  
Recognising that there is a much larger proportion of the Borough identified as disabled, compared to 
the Council’s workforce, the Council will aim to work more closely with agencies to promote and 
advertise vacancies.  This would include informing potential applicants of the support that would be 
available to them at the Council. The Council will continue to guarantee an interview to candidates who 
have a disability and meet the person specification criteria.

Race Equality 
See Section 10 above. 

Disabled People
See Section 10 above. 
Carers
There is no evidence to suggest that this group would be adversely affected.

Page 70



Gender
See Section 10 above.
Older and Younger People
See Section 10 above.
People who are Socio-Economically Disadvantaged
This proposed policy should have a positive benefit and links to the Councils commitment to improve 
the lives of local people. 
Religion or Belief
This information is not held to be able to assess if this group would be adversely affected. 
Sexual Orientation
This information is not held to be able to assess if this group would be adversely affected. 
Gender Reassignment
This information is not held to be able to assess if this group would be adversely affected. 
Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave or Those who have given Birth in the Previous 
26 weeks
This information is not held to be able to assess if this group would be adversely affected. 
Marriage or Civil Partnership
This information is not held to be able to assess if this group would be adversely affected. 
11.  Conclusions and Recommendations
What are the main conclusions from this analysis?
The main conclusion from this analysis is that any potential discrimination of a protected group as a 
consequence of the implementation of the proposal is not significant.  In terms of the protected group 
identified, the risk of challenge is limited and robust evidence is available to defend any claim.  
What are your recommendations?
To ensure that robust arrangements are in place to monitor the effectiveness of the Policy.
What measures (a) have you or (b) do you propose to put in place to mitigate any adverse 
impacts?

It should be noted that the proposed policy will be subject to review and should any potential issues 
arise they will be assessed and reported.
What evidence do you have which demonstrates that these measures will be effective?

12.  Please provide details of who you have consulted on the proposals and the 
methods which you used to consult.  State your consultation and inclusion 
methodology. 
The Consultation and Inclusion Methodology Used

Trade Unions.

13. Produce an action plan detailing the mitigation measures that you propose to put 
in place to address any adverse impacts.  
As above
14. Equality impact analysis sign off by the Equality Impact Assessment Board for the 
Committee Meeting

Name Position Date

Page 71



Posts affected by the proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria

Protected Groups
Rochdale Borough 

residents (from 
2011 census)

In Scope of 
Proposed 

Changes (Council 
Staff at Grades 1 - 

3)
Employee 
Baseline

In Scope of 
Proposed Changes 

(Schools Staff at 
Grades 1 - 3)

Employee Baseline

Group Category No. % No. % No. %
Male 103,600 48.9% 177 23.5% 105 5.2%

Gender
Female 108,099 51.1% 577 76.5% 1917 94.8%
0-14* 41,827 19.8% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%
15-29 42,541 20.1% 53 7.0% 256 12.7%
30-44 42,914 20.3% 166 22.0% 705 34.9%
45-64 53,601 25.3% 488 64.7% 1011 50.0%

Age

65+ 30,816 14.6% 47 6.2% 50 2.5%
White British 172,874 81.7% 655 86.9% 1677 82.9%
BME 38,825 18.3% 75 9.9% 308 15.2%Ethnicity
Unknown 0 0.0% 24 3.2% 37 1.8%
Yes 44,359 21.0% 23 3.1% 39 1.9%

Disabled
No/Unknown 167,340 79.0% 731 96.9% 1983 98.1%

211,699 754 2022
Data source as at 01.02.2017 from Trent HR IT System
* For the purposes of fullness, this data has been included, however it is not relevant to this 
analysis therefore these figures need to be considered in the context that they provide an 
insight into the composition of the borough compared to the makeup of the Council. 

Page 72



Page 73



Document is Restricted

Page 74

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 78

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 86

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 96

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Food and Feed Service Plan 2017-18
	Append. 1 for Food and Feed Service Plan 2017-18
	Append. 2 for Food and Feed Service Plan 2017-18

	7 The Need for Extra Year 7 School Places 2017- 2027
	Append. 1 for The Need for Extra Year 7 School places 2017- 2027
	Append. 2 for The Need for Extra Year 7 School places 2017- 2027
	Append. 3 for The Need for Extra Year 7 School places 2017- 2027

	8 The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2017- 2020
	Append. 1 for The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2017- 2020
	Append. 2 for The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2017- 2020
	Append. 3 for The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2017- 2020
	Append. 4 for The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2017- 2020
	Append. 5 for The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2017- 2020

	9 Proposed Local Positive Recruitment Criteria Policy
	11 Multi Functional Device (MFD) Tender
	12 Community Centres Funding Project - Progress Report
	13 Regeneration Sites Programme Update
	14 Proposed Housing Delivery Joint Venture with Greater Manchester Housing Providers
	15 Cherwell Centre Lease & Development of Cherwell Village Apartments

